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As previously announced, the Company is making a significant investment in a new business line “AdRat-
ings” and, for ease of prior year comparisons, is splitting its results into the existing business (“Consulting”) and 
AdRatings.

12 months ended 31 March 2018/19 2017/18

£m Consulting AdRatings Total 

Revenue 26.90 - 26.90 26.94
Gross Profit 22.05 - 22.05 22.23
Underlying Overheads (18.35) (2.22) (20.57) (20.18)

Underlying Profit Before tax/(loss) 3.70 (2.22) 1.48 2.05
Share Based Payments* 0.20 - 0.20 (0.07)
Exceptional Credit* 0.25 - 0.25 -
Finance income - - - 0.01

Profit Before tax/(loss) 4.15 (2.22) 1.93 1.99

* See notes 10 and 25

  Revenue flat at £26.90m, flat in constant currency
  1% decline in Gross Profit to £22.05m (2017/18: £22.23m), 1% in constant currency
   80% growth in Underlying Profit Before Tax (excluding AdRatings) to £3.70m (2017/18: £2.05m)
  Profit Before Tax (including AdRatings) stable at £1.93m (2017/18: £1.99m)
   4% growth in Profit After Tax (including AdRatings) to £1.26m (2017/18: £1.21m)
  3% growth in diluted Earnings Per Share to 9.8p (2017/18: 9.5p)
   £3.03m investment in AdRatings, of which £0.81m has been capitalised and £2.22m expensed
 £4.32m Cash at 31 March 2019 and no debt (31 March 2018: £5.78m and no debt)
   Final dividend 6.4p per share (total dividend for 2018/19 7.5p per share, same as 2017/18).

Commenting on the Company’s results, John Kearon, Chief Executive Officer of System1, said:

‘‘ The previous year, our first as System1, was a painful one, but with the support of 
our future-focussed investors and dedicated staff, we held our nerve and pushed on with 
the work needed to turn our intellectual leadership into a scalable business, capable of 
becoming the industry leader over time.

This year’s results may not be spectacular, but they were significant. Flat revenues,  
7% growth in Ad Testing, a 23% increase in the number of clients and 5% growth in  
H2 revenues against H2 2018, leave us cautiously optimistic the changes are working. 
Increased productivity and efficiency from our product, process and technology  
enhancements, saw Underlying Profit Before Tax grow by 80%. We’re looking forward 
to what we can achieve in the years ahead, both from established products and new  
offerings such as AdRatings.’’ 
JOhn KEAROn 
Chief Executive Officer

highlights
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Chairman’s Statement

The 2018/19 financial year was my first as Chairman of System1 Group PLC – I succeeded Ken Ford, who retired 
from the Board at our Annual General Meeting in July 2018. 2018/19 was characterised by a number of significant 
developments at System1 which I highlight in my comments below, following a brief summary of our results for 
the year.

Despite continued industry-wide pricing pressure our core Consultancy business largely stemmed the decline 
in performance seen during 2017/18, with Gross Profit, the Company’s main top line performance measure,  
1% lower than the prior year. Encouragingly, a drive to increase productivity delivered a significant improvement 
in profitability, and Underlying Profit Before Tax* increased by 80% to £3.70m. 

These numbers exclude our substantial investment in AdRatings, and also share based payments and a one-off 
business rates rebate. Including all of these items, our reported Profit Before Tax for the year was £1.93m, equiv-
alent to 15.4p per share. The Board proposes to pay a maintained final dividend of 6.4p per share. This would 
make for a full year dividend of 7.5p, the same as in 2017/18. System1’s financial position remains strong. At the 
year-end we had a cash balance of £4.32m (31 March 2018: £5.78m), equivalent to 34.3p per share, and no debt.

While our core business stabilised last year, and indeed showed signs of returning to growth, there remains 
much to be done. System1’s reputation as a leading innovator in the world of market research remains intact, but 
we need to turn this into greater commercial success in order to drive sustained growth. We need to work hard 
to ensure that more of the Company’s large multi-national clients commit to purchasing System1’s products and 
services at scale.

Recognising the substantial and ongoing changes in demand for market research products and services over 
the last couple of years, System1 has re-engineered a number of its processes, enhanced its product portfolio to 
meet customer requirements, and begun to improve the ways in which research findings are delivered to clients.

There has been a step change in the level of investment in new product development and IT systems during 
2018/19 – an increase which the Board considers vital to the delivery of future growth. A new Chief Information 
Officer has recently been recruited to drive this process, and we are confident of delivering significant improve-
ments over the coming years.
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Our new AdRatings subscription service has been at the heart of the increased new product development  
programme. During the year System1 invested a total of £3.03m in AdRatings, a service which enables subscrib-
ers to compare the effectiveness of their advertisements with that of competitors, and to correlate advertising 
effectiveness with media spend. The product is being trialled by a number of clients as we refine and enhance its 
features. Investment in AdRatings will continue in 2019/20, and we plan to roll it out further during this financial 
year.

During 2018/19 the System1 Board was significantly strengthened by the appointment of two additional non-
Executive Directors – Jane Wakely and Sophie Tomkins. Jane, who is Lead Chief Marketing Officer of Mars Inc., 
brings to our discussions a wealth of highly relevant, top level, consumer goods marketing experience.

Sophie, a Chartered Accountant and former City financial analyst who is a non-Executive Director of other AIM 
listed businesses, brings complementary and equally valuable insights to our Board discussions. I would person-
ally like to welcome Jane and Sophie to the Board. Following these appointments, Robert Brand, who joined the 
Board as a non-Executive Director in 2012, was appointed our Senior Independent Director. Alex hunt, formerly 
an Executive Director of System1, left the business with our best wishes in September 2018.

In June 2018 System1 formally adopted the updated Quoted Companies Alliance Corporate Governance  
Code, and we have taken measures to ensure full compliance. Our corporate website has been revised to provide 
easy access to all appropriate governance information. An external consultant was engaged to conduct a  
Board Performance Review, and we are already taking steps to implement some recommendations. Similarly,  
our Senior Independent Director conducted a Performance Evaluation of the Chair exercise among the other 
members of the Board. Full details of our approach can be found in the Corporate Governance section of this 
Annual Report.

System1 employees have once again shown impressive commitment over the past year, understanding the 
need to alter their approach in response to evolving market requirements. I would like to place on record how 
much I appreciate the hard work and application of System1 employees everywhere. More of the same will be 
required over the coming year as we seek to build on our improved performance in 2018/19.

GRAhAM BLAShILL
Chairman

System1 Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2019 3
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Chief Executive Officer’s Statement

We are on a journey to take our business from being ‘Intellectual #1’ in our space, to ‘Commercial #1’.

The journey started two years ago, changing our name to System1, Daniel Kahneman’s term for instinctive ‘Fast 
Thinking’ that we use to make most decisions. As Kahneman says, ideas are more compelling in verse, so here’s 
our summary of his work and its application to market research:

Two systems say Amos & Dan
Explain the decisions of man
The fast system drives
While the slow system skives
So we don’t act according to plan

Behavioural science reveals
What standard research conceals
So, what must be done?
Embrace System1
And measure how people feel 

The System1 name change was accompanied by a book, summarising our pioneering application of Behavioural 
Science to predicting which ads will create the greatest long-term growth and profitability. 
The book has achieved a 5-Star Amazon rating and distribution of over 10,000 copies. here’s a taster of how to 
create 5-Star returns on advertising investment: 

 To grow a brand, you need to get, those who do not buy you yet.

 Speak to the heart, don’t tax the brain, emotional ads give 11x the gain.

 Test, learn & push to perfect it, small changes can be highly effective. 

 Aim for 5-Stars, don’t stop at 3, to build your Fame, Feeling & Fluency*. 

 Spend on winners, avoid any waste, to put a smile on your CFO’s face.

*Fame, Feeling & Fluency are the best predictors of profitable long-term brand growth

During 2017/18, our first year as System1, we re-engineered our IP into a highly automated, value-enhancing ‘Ad 
System’, providing next day predictions, at a fraction of the previous cost, creating more consultancy time for 
profit-enhancing improvements of good ideas. Clients get a faster-cheaper-better ‘System’ to predict and maxi-
mise their advertising investment and we’re better placed to win larger-scale, longer-term contracts and drive the 
business towards our long-term commercial leadership goal. 

During 2018/19, our second year as System1, we restructured our sales teams into ‘new Client Acquisition’ 
and ‘Existing Client Growth’, hired a CIO, invested in digitising our product offerings and re-organised our back-
office to improve productivity.

We also continued our long track record of innovation in our sector, by published ground-breaking, industry-
lauded evidence for the enhanced profitability of ads that have a successful ‘Fluent Device’, like Compare-the-
Market’s Meerkats, Felix’s cat and Evian’s babies. 

So how has it gone in our first two years as System1? 
As shareholders and staff know only too well, year one was a painful one. Coinciding with a year of multina-

tional budget cuts, our revenues fell by 18%, Profit Before Tax fell by 68% and staff morale took a tumble.
But with the support of our future-focussed investors and dedicated and talented staff, we held our nerve 

and pushed on with the work needed to turn our intellectual leadership into a compelling and scalable business, 
capable of becoming the industry leader over time.
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Our second year’s results were far from spectacular, but they were significant. Flat revenues is hardly impres-
sive, but 7% growth in Ad Testing revenue, a 23% increase in the number of clients and 5% growth in 2019 h2 
revenues against h2 2018, leave us cautiously optimistic the changes are working. In addition, increased produc-
tivity and efficiency from our product, process and technology enhancements, saw Underlying Profit Before Tax 
grow by 80%. 

Today we sell our IP through consultancy products which help our clients make better marketing decisions. We 
aim to accelerate our business growth by leveraging this with judicious use of data, AI and the Internet. By doing 
this, we aspire to become a Global leader in long term advertising effectiveness.

An example of our new thinking is AdRatings. This is a digital product which takes our innovative IP and allows 
clients to benchmark their advertising against both competitors and the whole category and gain insights into 
how to improve their advertising effectiveness and profitability. 

By leveraging these latest technologies, AdRatings evaluates adverts much more cheaply and quickly than in 
the past. We have built (to our knowledge) the world’s biggest database of adverts rated on long-term effective-
ness. The methodologies involved are familiar to our own Ad Testing clients, but the database can be used by any 
client, regardless of the technique they use to test their own ads. Currently the database covers some two thirds 
of all TV advertising in the UK and USA from the beginning of 2017. The “library” of adverts is updated daily, and 
we aim to evaluate every new advert within our covered categories within 24 hours of airing.

The goals for AdRatings are fourfold, sequential and progressive in their potential contribution to future  
Company growth:

1) BUild the largest database of adverts evaluated on long term effec-
tiveness. We use this asset to enhance our understanding of effective 
advertising which feeds into our consultancy business.

2) Brand this database and provide topical, predictive data to industry 
publications, to raise System1’s presence in ad industry conversations 
and increase our Fame, Feeling and Fluency. AdRatings is our first  
ownable asset. It is (we believe) world leading and gets better, larger 
and more compelling every day – a key benefit of having an asset  
versus a methodology. 

3) Win new clients in new industries (beyond the current Consumer 
Packaged Goods core) off the back of AdRatings’ ability to increase our 

Fame, Feeling and Fluency. AdRatings is a low-cost way for clients to access System1 and does not require clients 
to decide to change how they evaluate their own adverts (though of course, if they do change to our methodol-
ogy, this will be a bonus). Clients can use the database as a decision-making resource to augment their existing 
methodologies and insights. As clients don’t have to change their advert testing methodologies, we are ambitious 
about achieving high penetration among advertisers spending over £1m annually, which is our key target market.

4) sell access to the AdRatings’ database via a subscription and/or other services and so create a new, scalable 
revenue stream. We are refining our product offerings to commercialise this database to greatest advantage. 
As with other new digital services, we expect that sales will accelerate once it begins to catch on, but cannot be 
certain when that will be.

The downside risks in AdRatings are relatively limited and the level of investment is closely monitored, while 
the long term advantages are potentially very significant. We will continue to innovate, invest in IT, improve pro-
ductivity and build System1’s Fame, Feeling and Fluency, as we attempt to fulfil our ambition of turning System1’s 
Intellectual Leadership’, into ‘Commercial Leadership’. 

‘‘ A huge thank you to investors, staff and clients alike, for joining us  
on the journey.’’ 

JOhn KEAROn
Chief Executive Officer
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Business and Financial Review

IntRoduCtIon
Our 2018/19 financial year can best be described as a return to stability after poor results in 2017/18. Gross Profit 
(our main top line measure) declined slightly (1%), our cost base declined 12% (excluding AdRatings – see below), 
and Underlying Profit Before Tax increased 80% to £3.70m (again, see below for the definition). The resulting 
profit margin was 14%, which while behind our previous long-term average (19% on average over the 4 years 
from 2013-2016), was ahead of 2017/18’s 8%.

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

£m Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Gross Profit 5.61 6.93 8.02 6.43 5.51 5.89 4.99 5.84 5.22 5.58 5.50 5.75

To put our results into context, we need to look back to the decline in 2017/18. This stemmed primarily from 
external market pressures due predominantly to reductions in market research budgets within some of our larg-
est FMCG clients. There was also pricing pressure across the market as a whole. This had been building over a few 
years but became more pronounced in 2017/18 with clients moving towards more automated, and lower cost, 
market research solutions.

The Company responded by reconfiguring its product offerings. A key initiative involved separating out  
the provision of research data which can be delivered at scale, at speed and at low cost, from the higher cost  
consultancy services provided by our account management teams. The aim was two-fold: (i) to deal with the 
pricing pressure and ensure our low cost (but high margin) data provision could compete with automated offer-
ings from competitors and; (ii) to position the Company better to win large-scale work programmes. We have 
achieved the first: pricing competitiveness has been restored. The second is a work-in-progress. hence sales have 
stabilised but are not yet growing.

More strategically, we made the decision to focus our resources on our core strength – predicting the long-
term effectiveness of advertising – and to use digital technology to create new products from our existing intel-
lectual property. AdRatings is the first example of this.

AdRatings is a large database showing ‘ratings’ or ‘scores’, of adverts in the market as a whole. It allows clients 
to assess the effectiveness of their historical advertising and benchmark it against peer companies, competi-
tor categories and the industry as a whole. John Kearon sets out in his CEO Statement the strategic context for 
AdRatings and our four goals for it (a new scalable revenue stream being but one).

AdRatings has also been a catalyst for upgrading our technology across the business, as we endeavour to 
digitise the Company.
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PRoduCt aReaS
Our business comprises, in the main, market research (Research), together with a small advertising agency 
(agency). The Research business has three main product lines, Communications (testing adverts prior to broad-
cast), Brand (tracking brand health), and innovation (testing new product and packaging concepts and ideas). We 
offer them from our offices in the UK, US, and seven other offices across Continental Europe and the rest of the 
world. In time we are hoping that the adratings subscription service will become an important adjunct to our 
Communications business.

Our main competitive strength is in Communications. We have developed market research techniques which 
we believe are better able to predict the long-term effectiveness of advertising than anyone else’s. In addition, 
our Ad Testing research tool has, we believe, more external validation than any other. Communications is not our 
largest product area (33% of 2018/19 Gross Profit), but has the most potential, and is what we are increasingly 
best known for. Gross Profit from Communications grew 5%, not through any significant new client wins, but as a 
result of steady progress across a number of clients.

Our Brand product area is closely related to Communications and it comprised 17% of 2018/19 Gross Profit. 
Our brand tracking tracks the health of a brand over time, using a model which measures the “Fame”, “Feeling” 
and “Fluency” of a brand. It provides a leading indicator of the direction of future sales (all other factors unre-
lated to the brand being equal). Gross Profit from Brand declined by 18%, as a result of some isolated client churn 
and slower than anticipated new wins. however, our Brand business tends to come from ongoing, and relatively 
stable, brand tracking projects, and we anticipate it returning to growth.

Our Innovation business is more ad hoc in nature than Communications and Brand, and is easier to win, and 
also easier to lose. It comprised most of Company’s business in its early years and is still the largest product area 
(41% of 2018/19 Gross Profit). It declined significantly in 2017/18 following cuts in marketing spend by some of 
our largest clients and returned to growth in 2018/19 (7% Gross Profit growth).

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

£m Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Innovation 2.62 3.36 3.51 2.30 2.16 2.23 1.94 2.08 2.43 2.50 1.94 2.14
Comms 1.50 1.56 2.80 2.30 1.76 1.83 1.59 1.82 1.55 1.51 2.35 1.96
Brand 0.57 0.81 0.94 1.03 0.93 1.16 1.14 1.29 0.81 0.92 0.95 1.04
Other 0.93 1.15 0.67 0.68 0.59 0.58 0.27 0.50 0.35 0.62 0.23 0.33
Agency (0.01) 0.05 0.10 0.12 0.07 0.09 0.05 0.15 0.08 0.03 0.03 0.28

 5.61 6.93 8.02 6.43 5.51 5.89 4.99 5.84 5.22 5.58 5.50 5.75

Our Agency business generated £0.43m of Gross Profit in 2019/20 (£0.37m in 2017/18) and so is a small 
Gross Profit contributor to the business. however, it covers most of its costs and supports the Company’s core 
Communications product area, showcasing what we call 5 Star (i.e. highly effective brand-building) advertising.

System1 Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2019 7
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Business and Financial Review continued

ReGIonaL PeRfoRmanCe
The sales pattern across our main geographic regions has varied. Gross Profit grew in Continental Europe (up 
19%, vs 2017/18), declined in our Americas region (down 6%), and was stable in the UK. APAC, our smallest 
region, was also down (by 21%) due to the loss of a large client. We have only a small market share in each of our 
regions and the addressable market in each one allows room for significant growth. Over the last few years we 
have pared back our geographic spread in order to focus resources on those regions which are most relevant to 
our clients and where we have highest potential.

 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19

£m Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Americas 2.96 3.55 3.53 2.88 2.62 2.87 2.28 2.42 2.33 2.31 2.68 2.22
UK 1.52 1.42 1.94 1.51 1.27 1.14 1.15 1.49 1.18 1.10 1.21 1.54
Cont Eur 0.95 1.35 1.68 1.28 1.01 1.23 1.01 1.34 1.24 1.67 1.26 1.28
APAC 0.19 0.56 0.77 0.64 0.54 0.56 0.50 0.44 0.39 0.47 0.31 0.43
Agency (0.01) 0.05 0.10 0.12 0.07 0.09 0.05 0.15 0.08 0.03 0.04 0.28

 5.61 6.93 8.02 6.43 5.51 5.89 4.99 5.84 5.22  5.58 5.50 5.75

adRatInGS
We invested £3.03m in our AdRatings asset during the year, of which £0.81m has been capitalised and £2.22m 
has been expensed as an operating cost. This investment comprised £1.08m of data collection costs, £1.55m on 
technology, and £0.40m of running costs. The data collection costs are those incurred in undertaking the market 
research on the adverts and are mainly payments to the consumers who complete the research surveys. The 
technical costs are those to build, maintain and upgrade the database and client interface. The running costs 
relate to sales staff and other ad hoc costs. 

We are piloting ways both to enhance and commercialise this database with a small number of clients, prior to 
an expected further roll out later in the current financial year. notwithstanding the lack of visibility, we view the 
risk/reward profile of AdRatings as attractive. The investment has limited downside risk and high upside poten-
tial, both in terms of helping propel our existing Communications business and in creating a new scalable revenue 
stream.

The Company monitors its capital allocation with regard to investment in AdRatings closely and on an on-
going basis, and as learnings develop it adjusts in the light of experience. Currently we are anticipating investing 
around £2.5m in AdRatings in 2019/20.

PRoduCtIvIty
We are focussing on improving productivity by eliminating low value work, streamlining processes, and providing 
enhanced role clarity across the business, particularly in account management. This is enabling the Company to 
redeploy resources to higher value areas (such as product development and technology) and reduce costs. Aver-
age headcount in 2018/19 was 12% lower than in 2017/18, and Underlying Overheads were down 9%.

Underlying Overheads excludes AdRatings (see below), share based payments, and an unusual one-off busi-
ness rates rebate (discussed in our Interims Statement). Share based payments are a non-cash expense that var-
ies with the Company’s share price, and so we disclose them separately. Employee bonuses can be material and 
vary widely. however, they were immaterial in both 2018/19 and the prior year.

Total Overheads (excluding AdRatings) declined by 12% and including AdRatings by 1%. Costs excluding 
AdRatings are set out below.

£M (unless otherwise specified) Growth 2018/19 2017/18

Average headcount - 12% 145 165

Underlying Overheads - 9% 18.35 20.18
Share Based Payments not meaningful (0.20) 0.07
Exceptional Credit (Rates Rebate given in error) n/A (0.25) -

Total Overheads - 12% 17.90 20.25
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Underlying Profit Before Tax (i.e. excluding AdRatings, share based payments and the rates rebate) grew by 
80% to £3.70m, rebounding from the sharp decline last year and Underlying Profit Before Tax margin was 14%. 
Profit Before Tax (i.e. including AdRatings, share based payments and the rates rebate) was down 3% (at £1.93m.)

tax
The Company’s effective tax rate (excluding AdRatings) has reduced to 26% from 39% in 2017/18 as a result of 
the reduction in the US Federal corporation tax rate. Including AdRatings, it has decreased to 35% from 39% in 
2017/18. This smaller decrease is because the investment in AdRatings, and the associated tax credits, have all 
occurred in the UK where our tax rates are lowest.

CaSh
We generated operational cash flow pre-financing (and pre AdRatings) of £2.53m. This represented 61% of Profit 
Before Tax (pre AdRatings), which is in line with our normal high cash conversion percentage. After the invest-
ment of £3.03m in AdRatings, and payment of £0.94m in dividends, our cash balance reduced from £5.78m on  
31 March 2018 to £4.32m on 31 March 2019. The Company has no indebtedness.

dIvIdendS
The Board proposes to pay a final dividend of 6.4 pence per share, which, together with the interim dividend of 
1.1 pence per share, would give a total of 7.5 pence per share (the same as the prior year).

At our current level of earnings this represents a low dividend cover compared to historic levels (diluted EPS is 
only 1.3 times dividend per share). Given the investment opportunities with AdRatings, and a share price which 
some consider depressed, the decision to maintain the dividend was considered carefully.

This level of dividend will not impair the Company’s plans for AdRatings, as we have sufficient liquidity to cover 
planned investment including that relating to AdRatings.

The Company’s policy is to maintain a relatively low level of ordinary dividends which over the long-term grow 
broadly in line with earnings, and to return surplus cash (after payment of ordinary dividends) by way of special 
dividends or share buy-backs, dependent on the price of the Company’s shares at the time. The Board views the 
current high dividend-to-earnings ratio (i.e. low dividend cover) as temporary and expects this to revert to our 
normal levels as earnings grow. Whilst the Board is prepared to consider reducing the dividend (as flagged in our 
Interim Statement), it views maintenance of the dividend as a useful discipline which it seeks to adhere to unless 
there is sufficiently clear-cut reason otherwise (which, in the Board’s view, is not the case at this time).

outLook
After poor results in the prior year, 2018/19 saw the business stabilise, upgrade its technology, invest in AdRat-
ings, and improve productivity. We are planning to continue to digitise our product offerings, so that we can 
further leverage our core intellectual property through the judicious use of data. Gross Profit has grown 5.2% pa 
(compound) since 2012, and other than the double-digit growth in 2015/16 and equally steep decline the fol-
lowing year, has been reasonably steady year-on-year. Although we have limited short-term revenue visibility, 
we believe that the core business can return to steady long-term growth, and that in addition the Company has 
upside potential with AdRatings.

We believe that the downside risks are modest. Our core business is relatively stable, with a spread of large, 
diverse blue-chip clients and a competitive product portfolio, and our principal value proposition – prediction 
of the long-term effectiveness of advertising – is difficult to replicate. Investment in AdRatings, while significant, 
will not strain the balance sheet, is discretionary, and is being managed dynamically as we learn from initial client 
feedback.

JAMES GEDDES
Chief Financial Officer
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The key risks to long-term value creation are competitive pressure leading to lack of take-up of our services by 
large clients in favour of alternative providers, and cuts to marketing budgets by clients. Our competitors are very 
much larger than us with access to significantly greater resources. Furthermore, we do not have overt technologi-
cal barriers preventing competitors from encroaching into our space. Our clients tend to be larger still, and small 
changes in behaviour by them can lead to significant impacts on our business.

nevertheless, we believe that the predictive power of our services would be difficult for competitors to repli-
cate and provide the opportunity to create significant value for our clients. Our ongoing challenge is to adapt our 
products and services offerings, our pricing, and our means of delivery to ensure our value proposition remains 
competitive.

Over the shorter-term, the key risk issue is lack of revenue visibility, and the fairly high peaks and troughs of 
business with clients which are very much larger than ourselves. The growth of our Brand Tracking and our focus 
on winning larger ongoing programmes of work will help here, as these services tend to give us more revenue 
visibility and stability. nevertheless, we will likely have to accept continued volatility in underlying business for 
some time.

In other respects, we have relatively little exposure to significant short-term shocks. We do not attempt to 
manage all risk out of the organisation, but instead provide our teams with a high degree of autonomy and 
actively encourage our people to be entrepreneurial.

having said that, we take risk seriously. We endeavour to identify and protect the business from the big, 
remote, risks – those that do not occur very often, but which, when they do, have major ramifications. The types 
of such event that we are concerned about and seek to manage are:
 loss of a significant client;
 loss of key personnel;
 loss of a critical supplier;
 material adverse event leading to significant loss of property, software, or data, or an adverse legal claim;
 systemic tax or legal compliance error;
 major outage in our survey platform;
 cyber-attack causing a material breach in our IT infrastructure.

LOSS OF A SIGnIFICAnT CLIEnT 
This is a significant risk, and we do not take it lightly, with the percentage of business from our largest client in 
the 12 months to 31 March 2019 at 6% of revenue (2017/18: 5% for the same client). Revenue from our 10 largest 
clients accounted for 35% of revenue (2017/18: 36%). We therefore go to considerable lengths to monitor service 
quality and seek client feedback.

LOSS OF KEy PERSOnnEL 
The loss of a senior member of the team would have a negative impact on the business. however, we have a rela-
tively large senior team and do not view the business as being overly dependent on any one individual. 

LOSS OF A CRITICAL SUPPLIER 
We have several mission-critical functions carried out by third party suppliers (such as panel suppliers). For these 
functions, we have endeavoured to ensure we are not overly-reliant on any one organisation.

Business Risk Review
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MATERIAL ADVERSE EVEnT LEADInG TO A SIGnIFICAnT LOSS OF PROPERTy,  
SOFTWARE, OR DATA, OR An ADVERSE LEGAL CLAIM
We cannot guarantee that all eventualities are covered, but nevertheless have continued to endeavour to protect 
the business from significant risks, through a combination of: comprehensive professional indemnity insurance; 
information security, particularly with regard to client confidentiality and personal data (see below); and suffi-
cient focus on legal protections, for example through our terms and conditions.

SySTEMIC TAx OR LEGAL COMPLIAnCE ERROR
We are a small business with a small finance and legal team based in the UK. yet we operate in a number of dif-
ferent jurisdictions and in some cases, have to deal in relatively complex tax and regulatory environments. Were 
we to make a small systemic error which did not surface for a number of years, the cumulative impact to correct 
the error could be significant. however, we endeavour to keep our tax and legal affairs simple and straightfor-
ward, and within our budgetary constraints, carefully select the best professional advisors that we can find.

MAJOR OUTAGE In OUR SURVEy PLATFORM
Were there to be a major outage in our survey platform due, for example, to capacity constraints or a security 
breach, we could be prevented from building surveys, collecting data and downloading results. This may result in 
significant delay in delivering client projects with a consequential loss of revenue, reputational damage, and the 
costs of remedying the situation. We have suffered relatively minor outages from time to time, but none has led 
to significant financial loss.

CyBER-ATTACK CAUSInG A MATERIAL BREACh In OUR IT InFRASTRUCTURE
Were a cyber-attack to succeed in infiltrating our IT infrastructure, unauthorised persons could access confiden-
tial information (particularly personal data) held within our systems, putting us in breach of our confidentiality 
obligations, and potentially losing access to key information or files. This is a critical risk, particularly in the cur-
rent environment. nevertheless, there are a number of mitigating factors. Our business does not ordinarily hold 
a great deal of personal data. For example, we do not have a panel of respondents (but instead use third party 
suppliers to reach consumers). Due to the nature of a marketing services business, the confidential information 
we hold is not as commercially sensitive as that for businesses in other industries (financial services or healthcare, 
for example). We invested in tightening our controls, processes and IT infrastructure and hold ISO 27001 accredi-
tation covering our information security.

BRExIT
The Group believes that any impact is likely to be small due to relatively minor trading between the Group’s UK 
companies and overseas clients and suppliers. The Group has well established operations in France, Germany, 
holland and Switzerland, which serve its Continental European clients. 

The Company is also exposed to the usual financial risks (such as credit, foreign exchange and liquidity risks), 
as set out in the Director’s Report. however, due to the straightforward nature of the business, the Company’s 
strong balance sheet, and the fact that most of the Company’s clients are large, well-known organisations, these 
risks are relatively less important.
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 12 months to 31 Mar 12 months to 31 Dec

    2018/19 2017/18 2016/17 2016 2015 2014

   Ex AR* Inc AR*

   Audited Audited Audited Unaudited Unaudited Audited Audited

fInanCIaL kPIs
Revenue  26,896 26,899 26,939 32,801 31,236 25,184 24,645
growth  -% -% -18% 27% 24% 2% 1%

Gross profit  22,047 22,050 22,231 26,984 25,643 20,250 19,410
growth  -1% -1% -18% 29% 27% 4% 2%

Administrative costs  17,901 20,118 20,246 20,676 19,414 15,704 15,109
growth  -12% -1% -2% 30% 24% 4% -3%

Bonus  
(inc. within Admin Costs)  365 365 107 2,294 2,396 63 1,077

Profit Before Tax  4,148 1,934 1,992 6,279 6,200 4,501 4,286
growth  108% -3% -68% 25% 38% 5% 21%

Profit after tax   1,257 1,213 4,029 3,968 3,032 2,897
growth  4% -70% 19% 31% 5% 19%

EPS – diluted   9.8p 9.5p 31.1p 30.3p 22.7p 21.3p
growth   3% -69% 22% 33% 7% 14%

Cash flow pre-financing   (421) 1,838 6,603 6,337 2,696 3,157

Cash balance   4,315 5,784 8,266 7,754 6,365 5,347

Dividend (interim & final)   7.5p 7.5p 7.5p 7.5p 4.5p 4.3p
growth   -% -% 67% 67% 5% 10%

Special dividend   - 26.1p 12.0p 12.0p - 12.0p

Share buy-backs   (3) 1 3,141 3,195 948 1,938

non-fInanCIaL kPIs
number of clients   251 204 224 223 243 235
growth   23% -9% -4% -8% 3% 5%

Gross profit per project   16.5 20.0 23.0 22.6 19.6 20.0
growth   -18% -13% 19% 15% -2% -%

Average headcount   145 165 161 157 158 152
growth   -12% 2% 3% -1% 4% 10%

Average gross profit per head   152 135 168 163 128 128
growth   13% -20% 25% 27% -% -7%

* “Ex AR” means: excluding AdRatings. “Inc AR” means: including AdRatings.

5 year Summary
(£000s unless specified otherwise)
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The Chairman and CEO statements, the Business and Financial Review, the Business Risk Review, and the 5 year 
summary (which include the Company’s key performance indicators) set out:
 the way that management view the business;
 its strategy, positioning, and objectives;
 its historic financial performance;
 an assessment of its future potential;
 its key performance indicators; and
 its key business risks.

These form part of this Strategic Report.

On BEhALF OF ThE BOARD

JAMES GEDDES
Chief Financial Officer
5 June 2019

13
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revieW of the BUsiness and fUtUre develoPment
The Chairman’s and CEO statements, the Business and Financial Review, and the Business Risk Review set out a 
review of the business’s performance and an assessment of its future development.

dIvIdendS
The Company has paid and proposes to pay the following dividends:

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018 
 £’000 £’000

Ordinary Shares  
2018 interim dividend paid, 1.1p per share  137
2019 interim dividend paid, 1.1p per share 138 
2018 special dividend paid at time of final dividend, 26.1p per share  3,253
2018 final dividend proposed, 6.4p per share  798
2019 final dividend proposed, 6.4p per share 805 

TOTAL DIVIDEnDS On ORDInARy ShARES 943 4,188

The Company paid the 2019 interim dividend on 20 December 2018 to shareholders on the register as at 16 
november 2018. The Company proposes to pay a 2018/2019 final dividend of 6.4p in July 2019. 

dIReCtoRS
The following are the current directors of the parent company, System1 Group PLC, and each served during the 
period. In addition, Ken Ford and Alex hunt served as directors during the year but resigned from the Board on 24 
July 2018 and 30 September 2018 respectively.

John Kearon (executive)
James Geddes (executive)
Robert Brand (non-executive)
Graham Blashill (non-executive)
Sophie Tomkins (non-executive) – appointed 11 June 2018
Jane Wakely (non-executive) – appointed 24 July 2018

The Remuneration Report sets out directors’ interests in the shares of the Company.

ShaRe CaPItaL
Changes in the share capital of the Company during the year are given in note 10 to the financial statements. As 
at 15 January 2019, the Company was aware of the following significant interests in the ordinary issued share 
capital of the Company.

  % of voting  
At 15 January 2019 number shares

John Kearon 2,961,235 23.6%
University of notre Dame 1,200,000 9.5%
Lazard Frères Gestion 817,578 6.5%
Ennismore Fund Management 723,000 5.8%
Stefan Barden 716,062 5.7%
Motley Fool Funds Trust 700,000 5.6%
Inv. AG f. langfr. Invest. TGV 670,000 5.3%
Invesco Advisors 400,000 3.2%
heritage Capital Management 377,774 3.0%

Directors’ Report
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fInanCIaL RISk manaGement
The Group’s activities expose it to the following financial risks to a small degree.

CRedIt RISk
We manage credit risk on a Group basis, arising from credit exposures to outstanding receivables and cash and 
cash equivalents. Since the majority of the Group’s clients are large blue-chip organisations, the Group rarely suf-
fers a bad debt. The Group’s cash balances are held, in the main, at hSBC Bank.

market risk – foreign exChange risk
In addition to the United Kingdom, the Group operated in the United States, Continental Europe, Brazil, Singapore 
and Australia during the period and was exposed to currency movements impacting commercial transactions 
and net investments in those countries. Management endeavours to match the currencies in which revenues 
are earned with the currencies in which costs are incurred. So for example, its US operation generates most of 
its revenue in US dollars and incurs most of its costs in US dollars also. Management does not believe that there 
would be any long-term benefit in endeavouring to manage currency risk further, and in order to avoid the cost 
and complexity does not deal in hedging instruments. 

LIquIdIty RISk
The Company monitors its cash balances regularly and holds its cash in immediately available current accounts to 
minimise liquidity risk. The Company has no overdraft facilities.

otheR RISkS
Management do not consider price risk or interest rate risk to be material to the Group. 
 
CaPItaL RISk manaGement
The Company manages its capital to ensure that it is able to continue as a going concern while maximising its 
return to shareholders. The Company’s capital structure consists of cash and cash equivalents and share capital. 
The Group has no borrowings, other than a small finance lease arrangement, and is not subject to any externally 
imposed capital requirements. The Group has not entered into any derivative contracts.

GoInG ConCeRn
After making enquiries, at the time of approving the financial statements the Directors have a reasonable expec-
tation that the Company and the Group have adequate resources to continue in operational existence for at least 
12 months from the approval of these financial statements. For this reason the Directors continue to adopt the 
going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

ReSeaRCh and deveLoPment
The Company’s Labs team is involved in the development and validation of new market research methods and 
products.

PUrChase of oWn shares
During the year the Company transferred 100,192 Ordinary Shares (“Shares”) (with an aggregate nominal value 
of £1,002, representing 0.8% of the called-up share capital of the Company) out of treasury to satisfy the exercise 
of employee share options over 100,192 shares, for cash consideration of £3,000.

At 31 March 2019, the Company had 13,226,773 Shares in issue (31 March 2018: 13,226,773) of which 650,156 
were held in treasury (31 March 2018: 750,348). The treasury shares will be used to help satisfy the requirements 
of the Group’s share incentive schemes.

15
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emPLoyeeS
The Group maintains fair employment practices, attempts to eliminate all forms of discrimination and to give 
equal access, and to promote gender equality. Wherever possible we provide the same opportunities for disabled 
people as for others. If an employee were to become disabled we would make every effort to keep him or her in 
our employment, with appropriate training where necessary.

heaLth and Safety PoLICIeS
The Group does not have significant health and safety risks and is committed to maintaining high standards of 
health and safety for its employees, visitors and the general public.

dIReCtoRS’ IndemnItIeS
Directors’ and officers’ insurance cover has been established for each of the Directors to provide cover against 
their reasonable actions on behalf of the Company. The indemnities, which constitute a qualifying third  
party indemnity provision as defined by Section 234 of the Companies Act 2006, remain in force for all current 
Directors.

audItoR
The Company will be seeking shareholder approval to appoint RSM UK Audit LLP as its auditor, at its Annual  
General Meeting.

On BEhALF OF ThE BOARD

JAMES GEDDES
Chief Financial Officer
5 June 2019

Directors’ Report continued
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ChaIRman’S IntRoduCtIon 
I am pleased to present the System1 Group PLC Corporate Governance Report for the financial year ended  
31st March 2019. 

your Board is committed to delivering and maintaining high standards of Corporate Governance throughout 
the Group and formally adopted the QCA Corporate Governance Code in 2018. This report, together with the 
reports from the Audit and Remuneration Committees, provides a description of how the Company has applied 
the main principles and complied with the relevant provisions of the Code.

The Quoted Companies Alliance Governance Code applies the principles of the UK Corporate Governance 
Code to small and medium-sized quoted companies and is a comprehensive yet practical code for the Company 
to follow.

At System1 we are committed to complying with both the letter and the spirit of the QCA Code. We believe 
that good governance is an essential basis on which to build our business and sustain us over the long-term. The 
scope of the Company’s governance covers the interests of all its stakeholders, including shareholders, lenders, 
employees, clients, suppliers, and to the extent possible given our size, the communities in which we operate. We 
endeavour to be fair and transparent in all our dealings and communications with our stakeholders.

As I mentioned in my Chairman’s Report on page 3, this year has seen some changes to the Board of Directors, 
with two new non-executive members and the appointment of a Senior Independent Director. I am confident 
that this new composition strengthens the Board and provides us with the right balance of experience and new 
perspectives for achieving our ambitions for the future of the business.

GRAhAM BLAShILL
Chairman
5 June 2019
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Corporate Governance Report continued
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BoaRd of dIReCtoRS

GRaham BLaShILL
nOn-ExECUTIVE ChAIRMAn, APPOInTED On 18 JULy 2012
(BECAME ChAIRMAn On 25 JULy 2018)
Graham Blashill joined System1 Group in 2012 as a non-
Executive Director. he was previously a main board director 
of Imperial Tobacco Group plc (a FTSE 100 company) where 
he spent the majority of his career. he joined W.D. & h.O. 
Wills (a division of Imperial Tobacco) in 1968, and became 
Managing Director of Imperial Tobacco UK in 1995. In 2003, 
he became Regional Director for Western Europe, and in 
2005 was appointed Group Sales and Marketing Director 
responsible for Imperial Tobacco’s global trading operations.

RoBeRt BRand
nOn-ExECUTIVE DIRECTOR, APPOInTED On 5 JAnUARy 2012
Robert Brand joined System1 Group in 2012 as a non-
Executive Director. he began his career in 1977, initially as a 
research analyst and subsequently as Managing Director of 
UK Equity research at BZW, then the investment banking di-
vision of Barclays Bank. In 1990 he joined Makinson Cowell, 
a capital markets advisory firm, as a director and partner. 
Over a period of 18 years he advised a range of FTSE 100 
and FTSE 250 companies, focusing on their link with institu-
tional investors. he retired in 2008.

SoPhIe tomkInS 
nOn-ExECUTIVE DIRECTOR, APPOInTED On 11 JUnE 2018
Sophie joined the Board as non-Executive Director in June 
2018. her career has included nearly two decades as a 
London-based stockbroker, focusing mainly on high growth 
small to mid-cap companies. She started at established firm 
Cazenove & Co, and became more entrepreneurial, at both 
Collins Stewart, and then Fairfax. As City Analyst, and lat-
terly head of Equities, she has analysed and advised numer-
ous companies and Boards, and been involved with a huge 
range of transactions, notably several high profile IPOs and 
M&A deals. She became a portfolio non-Executive Director 
in 2012, and is currently non-Executive Director and Audit 
Committee Chair of both hotel Chocolat Group PLC (retail 
and manufacturing) and Cloudcall Group PLC (software), and 
Senior Independent Director and Remuneration Committee 
Chair at Proactis holdings PLC (software). She is also a quali-
fied Chartered Accountant and a fellow of the Chartered 
Institute for Securities and Investment.

Jane Wakely 
nOn-ExECUTIVE DIRECTOR, APPOInTED On 23 JULy 2018
Jane joined System1 Group in July 2018 as a non-Executive 
Director. Passionate about creativity, innovation and driving 
profitable growth that transforms categories and brands, 
she has had the privilege of working for world leading CPG 
companies such as Mars Incorporated, Procter & Gamble 
and Unilever in her career, across categories as diverse as 
cosmetics, beauty care, healthcare, food, confectionery and 
pet care. She is currently Global Chief Marketing Officer for 
the Pet nutrition business at Mars Incorporated and Lead 
Chief Marketing Officer for Mars Inc. Previously, Jane was 
the Global Chief Marketing Officer of the Chocolate business 
at Mars and has been part of the Mars drive to innovate 
digitally and creatively, leading to Mars being recognised 
creatively as one of the most awarded companies in the 
world. She is also a Chartered Management Accountant and 
holds a BSc (hons) in Business Administration from Bath Spa 
University. 

John keaRon
ChIEF ExECUTIVE OFFICER
John founded the Company in 1999 and remains its largest 
shareholder. Previously he founded innovation agency 
Brand Genetics, which invented new products and services 
for large consumer companies. Before this, he was a plan-
ning director at Publicis (the leading advertising agency), 
having started his career at Unilever where he rose to be-
come a senior marketer at Elida Gibbs. his role in establish-
ing and developing the Company made him Ernst & young’s 
“Emerging Entrepreneur of the year” in 2006.

JameS GeddeS
ChIEF FInAnCIAL OFFICER
James Geddes joined System1 Group in 2003 as CFO. he is a 
Chartered Accountant, has a diploma in Corporate Treasury 
Management, and is a graduate of harvard’s executive pro-
gramme. he was previously Executive Director of Corporate 
Finance at MediaOne (a US telecoms company), and CFO 
of Iobox (an early stage technology company backed by 
Morgan Stanley Capita, and sold to Telefonica), having 
started his career at Deloitte.
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StRateGy
All directors are familiar with the market in which the Company is operating, the Company’s value proposition, 
and its strategic intent. 

The Board actively participates in setting, and regularly reviewing, the strategy of the business, and is respon-
sible for ensuring that the Company’s business model is, and remains, aligned to the achievement of its strategic 
objectives. The Company sets out its strategy within the Chairman’s Statement, the Chief Executive’s Statement, 
and the Business and Financial Review of its Annual Report and Accounts. 

RISk manaGement 
The Board reviews the risks facing the business on a regular basis. The identified principal risks and uncertainties 
are those outlined in the Business Risk Review on pages 10 and 11. 

The Board is responsible for the Group’s system of internal controls and risk management, and for review-
ing the effectiveness of these systems. These systems are designed to manage, rather than eliminate, the risk of 
failure to achieve business objectives, and to provide reasonable, but not absolute assurance against material 
misstatement or loss.

The key features of the Group’s internal controls are described below:
 clearly defined organisational structure with appropriate delegation of authority;
 comprehensive budgeting programme with an annual budget approved by the Board;
 regular review by the Board of actual results compared with budget and forecasts;
 regular reviews by the Board of full year expectations;
 detailed budgeting and monitoring of costs incurred on the development of new products;
 a limited number of directors and executives authorised to make payments and commit the company to legal 

agreements;
 regular reviews of client and employee feedback;
 information security controls (for which the Company has obtained ISO 27001 accreditation).

The Board take measures to review internal controls and embed risk management procedures on an ongoing 
basis and implement metrics and objectives to monitor the business as part of a continual improvement pro-
gramme. 

CoRPoRate CuLtuRe 
The Company endeavours to maintain a culture built on integrity. In order to surface unethical or deceitful behav-
iours, it promotes openness amongst its employees, provides channels for employees to feed back concerns 
to the Executive Directors and the Board (such as anonymous employee feedback surveys), and conducts exit 
interviews.

the BoaRd of dIReCtoRS 
The Board comprised two executive Directors and four independent non-executive Directors, including the 
non-executive Chairman during the year ended 31 March 2019. The membership of the Board is set out in the 
Directors’ Report. We believe that the directors have the mix of leadership, marketing and financial skills and 
experience necessary to oversee the Company and deliver its strategy for the benefit of the shareholders over 
the medium to long-term. The composition of the Board is intended to achieve a balanced range of personal 
qualities and capabilities, and to support the Company’s commitment to promoting gender equality and diversity. 
The biographical details of the directors are presented on page 18.

The Board operates an induction programme for new non-Executive Directors. The Board reviews its AIM 
obligations with its nominated Advisor annually, and endeavours to keep up with best practice governance via 
QCA seminars and training material. 

All directors can access the Company’s advisors and obtain independent professional advice at the 
Company’s expense in performance of their duties as directors. The Board has utilised the services of a Board 
Advisor, Stefan Barden, on strategy and technology, and the Remuneration Committee has sought advice from 
PriceWaterhouseCoopers on the Company’s LTIP. neither the Board nor the respective committees have sought 
other external advice on any significant matter during the year. The Audit Committee works with the Company’s 
auditor, who were Grant Thornton UK LLP for the year ended 31 March 2019. The Board liaises regularly with the 
Company’s nominated Advisor, Canaccord Genuity to ensure compliance with AIM Rules. 

19
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Corporate Governance Report continued

The Chairman is responsible for leading the Board, setting its agenda and monitoring its effectiveness. There 
is a clear division of responsibilities between the Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer, and their respective 
roles are well defined and documented. The role of the Executive Directors is to manage the day-to-day business 
activities and implement the strategy. The role of the non-Executive Directors as a whole is to supportively chal-
lenge and help to develop the direction of the business, and also to assess the performance of management. 

The Board considers each of the non-Executive Directors to be independent, for the following principal  
reasons:
 they all have served on the Board for less than nine years;
 their remuneration is not material in the context of their financial circumstances;
 they have no executive role;
 they each own an immaterial number of shares in the Company in the context of their financial circumstances 

(or in some cases, no shares);
 they are not related to either of the Executive Directors; and
 they have no conflict of interest given their other roles and business activities.

The Company Secretary is also the Chief Financial Officer, as is the case with other companies of a similar size 
and complexity. The Board plans to split the roles when it reaches a size which warrants it.

The Board schedules regular monthly meetings during the year, with the exception of July or August, and addi-
tional ad hoc meetings as required. All Directors are able to allocate sufficient time to the Company to discharge 
their responsibilities fully.

The number of regular meetings that each director attended during the financial year is set out below:

 Board Audit Remuneration
  Committee  Committee 
 (11 meetings) (2 meetings) (2 meetings)

Graham Blashill 11 2 2
Robert Brand 11 2 2
Sophie Tomkins 9 1 2
Jane Wakely 8 n/a 2
Ken Ford 3 1 1
John Kearon 11 n/a n/a
James Geddes 11 2* 2*
Alex hunt 4 n/a n/a

*attendance by invitation.

On rare occasions a board member may attend by phone to accommodate overseas travel arrangements. 
Management provides the Board with information on the Company’s performance and appropriate informa-

tion relating to the agenda prior to Board and Committee meetings. 

MATTERS RESERVED FOR ThE BOARD
The Board discusses and reviews all matters and issues which are important to the business. Certain decisions are 
reserved for the Board; which include:
 approval of the Group’s long-term objectives and strategy;
 approval of the annual operating and capital budget, and any material changes thereto;
 extension of the Group’s activities into new business or geographic areas;
 changes to the Group’s capital structure and/or major changes to corporate structure, including acquisitions, 

disposals and investments;
 approval of interim and annual reports, and regulatory or non-routine shareholder communications;
 approval of significant changes in accounting policies or practices;
 approval of dividends and dividend policy;
 assessment of the effectiveness of risk and control processes.

Matters referred to the Board are considered by the Board as a whole and no one individual has unrestricted 
powers of decision. Where directors have concerns which cannot be resolved in connection with the running of 
the Group or a proposed action, their concerns would be recorded in the Board Minutes. This course of action 
has not been required to date.
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APPOInTMEnT OF DIRECTORS
The Board formally approves the appointment of all new Directors. Each year at the Annual General Meeting, all 
Directors retire by rotation and are subject to re-election.

RemuneRatIon CommIttee
The Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining the specific remuneration and incentive packages 
for each of the Company’s Executive Directors and keeping under review the remuneration and benefits of all 
senior executives and managers and overall pay levels of all employees. Its members are:
 Graham Blashill – Chairman of the Remuneration Committee
 Robert Brand
 Sophie Tomkins
 Jane Wakely

The Remuneration Committee’s role and responsibilities are to:
 set the remuneration and incentive schemes of Executive Directors (in the case of the Chief Financial Officer, 

in conjunction with the Chief Executive Officer), including pension rights, other benefits and any compensation 
payments, ensuring that no Director is involved in any decisions as to their own remuneration;

 review and approve the level and structure of remuneration and incentive schemes for senior management;
 select, appoint and set the terms of reference for any remuneration consultants who advise the Committee;
 approve the payments to Directors under any performance-related pay or share schemes operated by the 

Company;
 ensure that contractual terms on termination of any Director are fair to the individual and the Company, that 

failure is not rewarded and that the duty to mitigate loss is fully recognised;
 approve any major changes in employee benefits structures throughout the Group;
 approve the policy for authorising claims for expenses from the Directors. 

The Remuneration Committee schedules two formal meetings per year and meets at other times as necessary. 
The Remuneration Committee may invite the Chief Executive Officer or Chief Financial Officer to attend meet-

ings of the Remuneration Committee. The Chief Executive Officer is consulted on proposals relating to the remu-
neration of the Chief Financial Officer and of other senior executives. The Chief Executive Officer is not involved 
in setting his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee may use consultants to advise it in setting remuneration structures and policies. 
It is exclusively responsible for appointing such consultants and setting their terms of reference. 

The Annual Statement from the Remuneration Committee Chair is set out on pages 26 to 30. 

audIt CommIttee
The Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring the financial performance of the Company is properly monitored 
and reported on to shareholders, reviewing the Company’s financial systems and controls, and overseeing the 
Company’s risk management. Its members are:
 Sophie Tomkins – Chair of the Audit Committee
 Graham Blashill
 Robert Brand

The Audit Committee’s role and responsibilities are to:
 monitor the integrity of the financial statements of the Group;
 review the Group’s internal financial controls and risk management systems;
 make recommendations to the Board, for it to put to the shareholders for their approval in relation to the 

appointment of the external auditor and to approve appropriate remuneration and terms of reference for the 
external auditor;

 discuss the nature, extent and timing of the external auditor’s procedures and discussion of external auditor’s 
findings;

 monitor and ensure the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit 
process;

 develop and implement policy on the engagement of the external auditor to supply non-audit services;
 report to the Board, identifying any matters in respect of which it considers that action or improvement is 

required; and
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 ensure a formal channel is available for employees and other stakeholders to express any complaints in 
respect of financial accounting and reporting.

The Annual Report from the Audit Committee Chair is set out on pages 23 to 25. 

BOARD EVALUATIOn
The Board undertook a review of its effectiveness for the first time, in the Company’s 2018/19 financial year. The 
Board will carry out further reviews of its effectiveness on an annual basis and may use an external adviser. The 
objective of this evaluation process is to bring to light possible changes which could make the Board’s activities 
and administration more effective and efficient. The Board Evaluation covered the following areas:
 the manner in which the Board is run, and operates as a team;
 the skills, experience and independence of the Board;
 the strategy of the business;
 the risks of the business;
 the Company’s ethical values and behaviours; and
 engagement with shareholders and other stakeholders.

The exercise identified a number of positive areas particularly relating to the manner in which the Board is 
run, and the skills and experience and independence of the Board. The main area for improvement is the lack of a 
formal succession planning process (although succession is reviewed on an ongoing basis – see below), which will 
be addressed during the 2019/20 financial year.

SUCCESSIOn PLAnnInG
Succession planning for appointments to the Board and to senior management is carried out in the following way.

The Board, led by the Chairman, carries out ongoing assessments as to the succession needs and planning of 
the Board. Such assessments include reviewing the structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowl-
edge and experience) required of the Board compared to its current position. Such succession planning involves 
identification and nomination of candidates to fill Board vacancies as and when they arise, using external recruit-
ment consultants.

Senior management appointments are made by the Executive Directors, who carry out ongoing assessments 
of succession needs and skills gaps across the business. Key appointments are overseen by the Remuneration 
Committee.

ShaRehoLdeR CommunICatIonS 
The Board endeavours to keep all interested shareholders informed by regular announcements and update 
statements. The Executive Directors meet regularly with institutional shareholders to understand their needs 
and expectations. They invite, and regularly receive, shareholder feedback and report it back to the Board. Other 
methods of communication are:
 Annual General Meetings;
 Broker briefings;
 Corporate website; and
 Letters to shareholders when appropriate.

The Chairman and Senior Independent Director are available to meet with institutional shareholders on any 
concerns or issues in relation to governance, board composition, or executive director remuneration.

otheR StakehoLdeRS 
The prime stakeholders of the business, in addition to shareholders, are clients, employees, and suppliers.

The Company undertakes regular client feedback surveys (conducted by a third party) and employee feed-
back surveys (conducted anonymously). The results of both are shared with the Board, and actions are taken to 
address the issues raised. Employee feedback survey results are shared transparently with all employees.

Actions taken following client and employment feedback have included:
 tailoring product development;
 adjusting the Company’s articulation of its value proposition to clients and employees; and
 changing the way the Company communicates with its employees.

In addition, the Company maintains a senior level dialogue with its key strategic suppliers.

Corporate Governance Report continued
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The Audit Committee is responsible for ensuring that the financial performance of the Group is properly reported 
and reviewed. Its role includes monitoring the integrity of the financial statements (including annual and interim 
accounts and results announcements), reviewing internal control and risk management systems, reviewing any 
changes to accounting policies, reviewing and monitoring the extent of the non-audit services undertaken by 
external auditors and advising on the appointment of external auditors.

memBeRS of the audIt CommIttee
The membership of the Committee is set out on page 21 of the Corporate Governance Report. Sophie Tomkins 
took over from Robert Brand as Chair in January 2019. All members of the Committee are independent non-
Executive Directors. James Geddes, Chief Financial Officer, routinely attends the Audit Committee meetings by 
invitation, but other Executive Directors or members of the management team may also be invited to attend 
meetings as required. The non-Executive Directors are provided an opportunity at the Audit Committee meet-
ings to discuss matters with the Auditors without the presence of the Executive Directors. 

The Board is satisfied that the Chair of the Committee has recent and relevant financial experience. Sophie is 
a Chartered Accountant and is also Chair of the Audit Committee at both hotel Chocolat plc and Cloudcall Group 
plc. The Committee meets at least twice a year and more frequently if required, and has unrestricted access to 
the Group’s auditor. Attendance at Board and Committee meetings is set out in the Corporate Governance Report 
on page 20. During Fy19 there were extra meetings of the Audit Committee as part of the audit tender process 
described below.

dutIeS
The main duties of the Audit Committee are set out in its terms of reference, which are summarised on page 21 
and available on the Group’s website (https://system1group.com/investors).
The work carried out by the Audit Committee during Fy19 comprised the following:
 ensuring the financial performance of the Company is being properly measured and reported on;
 review of the Fy19 audit plan;
 consideration of key audit matters and how they are addressed;
 review of suitability of the external auditor;
 review of the financial statements and Annual Report;
 review of the appropriateness of the Group’s accounting policies and judgements made in the preparation of 

the financial statements, and adequacy of the disclosures made therein;
 consideration of the external audit report and management representation letter;
 review of the risk management and internal control systems;
 meeting with the external auditor without management present;
 review of anti-bribery policy and arrangements.

Audit Committee Report
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RoLe of the exteRnaL audItoR
The Audit Committee monitors the relationship with the external auditor to ensure that auditor independence 
and objectivity are maintained. As part of this role, the Committee reviews the non-audit fees of the auditor, and 
notes that significant tax and accounting work is undertaken by the auditors’ US and Chinese affiliate firms.

however, these overseas firms are independent of Grant Thornton UK LLP in terms of management and own-
ership. The Company has closed its small Chinese operation and so in future the work of the Chinese affiliate will 
cease. The non-audit fees of Grant Thornton and their global affiliates are 189% of their audit fees, but the non-
audit fees of Grant Thornton UK LLP (i.e. excluding overseas affiliate firms) are less than 50% of their audit fees, 
per the table below:

 Grant Thornton Grant Thornton Total 
 UK LLP overseas  
  affiliates
 £’000 £’000 £’000

audIt and audIt ReLated feeS   
Audit of parent company and consolidated accounts 51 6 57
Audit related assurance services 7 - 7

 58 6 64

non-aUdit fees   
Tax compliance 10 48 58
Tax advisory 2 36 38
Other services - 25 25

 12 109 121

 70 115 185

The Audit Committee also assesses the auditor’s performance. 

audIt PRoCeSS
The auditor prepared an audit plan for the review of the full period financial statements. The audit plan set out 
the scope of the audit, areas to be targeted and audit timetable. This plan was reviewed and agreed in advance 
by the Audit Committee. Following the audit, the auditor presented its findings to the Audit Committee for dis-
cussion. no major areas of concern were highlighted by the auditor during the period, however areas of signifi-
cant risk and other matters of audit relevance are regularly communicated.

24
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tendeR and PRoPoSed ChanGe of audItoR
having engaged Grant Thornton UK LLP as the Company’s auditor since 2003, the Board, on the recommendation 
of the Audit Committee, decided that it was appropriate to put the group statutory audit out to competitive ten-
der. Longevity of tenure and consideration of the balance between audit and non-audit fees were key drivers for 
this tender process, which included formal proposals and presentations from three audit firms, including Grant 
Thornton. 

Following the conclusion of this formal tender process led by the Company’s Audit Committee, the Board has 
approved the proposed appointment of RSM UK Audit LLP as the Company’s auditor for the financial year end-
ing 31 March 2020. This will be subject to approval by the Company’s shareholders at the next Annual General 
Meeting to be held on 31st July 2019. The Board would like to thank Grant Thornton and the audit team for their 
efficient work over the years.

InteRnaL audIt
At present the Group does not have an internal audit function and the Committee believes that management is 
able to derive assurance as to the adequacy and effectiveness of internal controls and risk management proce-
dures without one.

RISk manaGement and InteRnaL ContRoLS
As described throughout the Annual Report and the Corporate Governance section of the Group’s website 
(https://system1group.com/investors), the Group has established a framework of risk management and internal 
control systems, policies and procedures. The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing the risk management 
and internal control framework and ensuring that it operates effectively. During the period, the Committee has 
reviewed the framework and the Committee is satisfied that the internal control systems in place are currently 
operating effectively.

anti-BriBery
The Group has in place an anti-bribery and anti-corruption policy which sets out its zero-tolerance position and 
provides information and guidance to those working for the Group on how to recognise and deal with bribery and 
corruption issues. The Committee is comfortable that the current policy is operating effectively.

SOPhIE TOMKInS
Chair, Audit Committee
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Remuneration Report

annuaL Statement fRom the RemuneRatIon CommIttee ChaIR, GRaham BLaShILL

Dear shareholder,

The Remuneration Committee sets the strategy, structure and levels of remuneration for the executive directors 
and reviews the remuneration of senior management, to ensure alignment of objectives and incentives through-
out the business in pursuit of the Group’s stated objectives. The membership and terms of reference of the 
Remuneration Committee are set out in the Corporate Governance Report. 

This Remuneration Report is split into two parts: 
 The directors’ remuneration policy sets out the Company’s policy on directors’ remuneration, in particular  

the four-year long-term incentive plan (“LtIP”), and the key factors that were taken into account in setting the 
policy. The directors’ remuneration policy is not subject to a shareholder vote at the 2019 AGM, since  
the main variable element (the LTIP) was approved by shareholders at a General Meeting on 22 March 2017.

 The annual report on remuneration sets out payments and awards made to the directors for the year to  
31 March 2019.

There are three elements in director remuneration:
 Base salary
 LTIP
 Benefits

historically, the Company’s LTIPs have been established in three to four year cycles. The current LTIP was 
established in February 2017 and will vest on 12 August 2021 (the “2017 LtIP”). Its primary performance targets 
are based on gross profit, with profit after tax and share price underpins.

We endeavour to keep our director remuneration arrangements simple and correlated to increases in long 
term business growth. As a small Company we are also acutely aware of the dilutive impacts of equity awards, 
and when designing our LTIPs, we ensure that vesting only occurs when there is a substantial increase in share-
holder value (after accounting for the dilution).

The Company consulted with shareholders in designing the 2017 LTIP, and prior to implementing it, obtained 
shareholder approval at a General Meeting on 22 March 2017.

For levels below the participants in the 2017 LTIP, the remuneration ordinarily comprises:
 Base salary
 Bonus and profit share
 Benefits

The executive directors and other senior executives who participate in an LTIP forego annual bonus and profit 
share.

The committee regularly reviews the appropriateness of remuneration across the Group and is satisfied that 
an appropriate reward structure exists below Board level to recognise and retain our top talent. 

During 2018/19, Alex hunt, former Executive Director, resigned from the Board (on 30 September 2018) with 
Sophie Tomkins and Jane Wakely joining the Board as non-Executive Directors on 11 June 2018 and 24 July 2018 
respectively. Ken Ford retired as non-Executive Chair on 24 July 2018.

GRAhAM BLAShILL
Chair, Remuneration Committee
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dIReCtoRS’ RemuneRatIon PoLICy

InTRODUCTIOn
The policy described in this part of the Remuneration Report is intended to apply for four years beginning in  
the 2017/18 financial year, and covers executive directors and a small number of other senior managers  
(“executives”).

The Committee considers the remuneration policy annually to ensure that it remains aligned with business 
needs and is appropriately positioned relative to the market. however, there is no intention to revise the policy 
more frequently than every four years.

The Committee has based the Executive reward structure on the long term organic growth strategy of the 
business. If successful, this will deliver significant shareholder value, and Executive rewards are designed to cor-
relate with the key driver of that value (top line growth).

Fixed annual elements – including salary, pension and benefits – are to recognise the responsibilities and lead-
ership roles of our Executives and to ensure current and future market competitiveness. Long-term incentives are 
to motivate and reward them for making the Company successful on a sustainable basis.

BASE SALARy AnD BEnEFITS
Base salary is paid in 12 equal monthly instalments during the year. Salaries are reviewed annually and any 
changes are effective from the beginning of the Company’s financial year (which is 1st April). Benefits comprise 
money purchase pension contributions of up to 6% of salary, private medical and dental insurance, life insurance 
and long term disability insurance.

LOnG TERM InCEnTIVE PLAn
The company introduced the current LTIP in March 2017 (the 2017 LTIP). It was approved by shareholders at a 
General Meeting in March 2017 and covers the four-year period ending 31 March 2021.

The awards have taken the form of zero-cost stock options. They were granted to Executives on 22 March 
2017 and will vest on 12 August 2021 provided the Company achieves performance targets in the Company’s 
2020/2021 financial year. The performance targets are based on gross profit growth (the Company’s main top line 
performance indicator), with profit after tax and share price underpins. Given changes to the leadership team (for 
example as a result of a participant in the 2017 LTIP leaving the business), further awards may be granted to new 
members of the leadership team, at the discretion of the Remuneration Committee, but only within the maxi-
mum dilution limit approved by shareholders.

The performance targets and vesting levels have been set with growth levels of between 10% and 30% pa in 
mind. At the 10% pa growth level, the gross profit would be £39.5m, and at the 30% pa growth level, £77.1m. The 
specific vesting levels are set out in the following table.

 Equity level Gross profit target

Executive Directors 198,400 shares (1.5% of issued shares) £39.5m
 132,267 shares (1.0% of issued shares) £56.0m
 66,133 shares (0.5% of issued shares) £77.1m
Senior Managers 132,267 shares (1.0% of issued shares) £39.5m
 92,587 shares (0.7% of issued shares) £56.0m
 46,293 shares (0.35% of issued shares) £77.1m

There will be proportionate vesting if gross profit is between £39.5m and £56.0m pa or between £56.0m and 
£77.1m pa.
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Remuneration Report continued

no awards will vest unless profit after tax (“Pat”) in 2020/21 is at least £7.0m and the average share price of 
the Company during July 2021 is at least £9.945 (30% higher than the share price on the award date). For the 
higher levels of vesting triggered by gross profit above £56.0m, the PAT underpin increases to £9.9m.

For the purpose of these performance targets PAT is calculated before deducting share-based payments (to 
avoid any circular argument problem when performing the calculations).

The gross profit and PAT targets are designed to relate to organic growth, and the Committee has the right to 
adjust the targets if a material acquisition or other corporate event occurs (and will ordinarily exercise such right).

There is currently one executive director participant (James Geddes) and two senior manager participants. 
John Kearon does not currently participate in the 2017 LTIP, but instead, has an annual bonus for each of the 4 
years to 31 March 2021 of between 25-75% of annual salary based on the growth targets and underpins above.

Participants in the 2017 LTIP do not participate in the Company’s annual bonus or profit share scheme, and 
have no other short-term incentive plan. This is to ensure decision-making focus is primarily on achieving long-
term growth. Therefore, over the period to March 2021, the only remuneration that they will receive will be 
base salary and benefits (with the exception of the CEO bonus), unless the Remuneration Committee determine 
awards in exceptional circumstances (at their sole discretion).

The Company has underperformed since the introduction of the 2017 LTIP and even the minimum targets are 
unlikely to be achieved. The Committee does not wish to reward underperformance and so will not be resetting 
the targets. however it does wish to continue to provide appropriate incentives, and so proposes (subject to 
shareholder approval at the Company’s AGM) extending the date by when the targets can be met, by 3 years. The 
final performance period would be therefore be Company’s 2023/24 financial year, and the lapse date 12 August 
2024.

The Committee further proposes that Vesting would occur as and when the performance targets are met, 
so partial vesting may occur earlier than the lapse date, and then further vesting later (provided that no vesting 
could occur in relation to financial periods after the Company’s 2023/24 financial year). 

Several of the original participants are no longer in the 2017 LTIP, and the Board plan to add additional partici-
pants, provided that the maximum level of dilution from the scheme (assuming full vesting) does not exceed the 
current maximum (8.5% of the Company’s issued Share Capital – 13,226,775 shares). The Board are planning to 
add John Kearon to the LTIP at the higher of the two levels, instead of his bonus arrangement.

The Committee have granted an advisor to the Board, Stefan Barden, a separate equity award, comprising 
300,000 zero cost stock options, subject to approval at the Company’s AGM. They comprise three tranches of 
100,000 options each, with the following performance conditions:
 100,000 zero-priced stock options

 Vest: when audited Gross Profit in any financial year exceeds £45m, subject to the Company’s share price 
  exceeding £5.00 per share for a 30 day consecutive period prior to the lapse date;
 Lapse: on 30 July 2024.

 100,000 zero-priced stock options
 Vest: when audited Gross Profit in any financial year exceeds £68m, subject to the Company’s share price 
 exceeding £7.50 per share for a 30 day consecutive period prior to the lapse date;
 Lapse: on 30 July 2029.

 100,000 zero-priced stock options
 Vest: when audited Gross Profit in any financial year exceeds £90m subject to share price exceeding  
 £10.00 per share for a 30 day consecutive period prior to the lapse date;
 Lapses: on 30 July 2032.

The Committee have taken advice from PriceWaterhouseCoopers in relation to these equity incentives and 
consulted with major shareholders.
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DILUTIOn
Vested stock options are set out below.

 number %

Voting shares as at 31 March 2019 12,576,617 100%
2006 employee share option scheme (now closed)  47,167 0.4%
2010-2014 LTIP – vested on 28 May 2014 75,520 0.6%
2014-2016 LTIP – vested on 30 April 2017 (previous LTIP) 233,136 1.8%

 355,823 2.8%

Unvested options comprise options granted under the 2017 LTIP and the equity awards to Stefan Barden, 
described above. The maximum aggregate dilution under both of these schemes is 11.3% of the Company’s  
voting shares.

nOn-ExECUTIVE DIRECTORS
non-executive directors do not participate in any of the Company’s incentive arrangements nor do they receive 
any benefits. Their fees are reviewed periodically and set by the Board as a whole.

REMUnERATIOn OF ALL EMPLOyEES
All employees are entitled to base salary, benefits, and (providing not also an Executive) a discretionary annual 
bonus. Since January 2012 equity awards have not been granted to employees who are not also Executives. The 
annual discretionary bonus was negligible in both 2018/19 and 2017/18 due to the poor performance of the 
Company.

DIRECTOR SERVICE COnTRACTS AnD POLICy On PAyMEnT FOR LOSS OF OFFICE
Each of the executive directors have service contracts. The agreements include restrictive covenants which apply 
during employment and for a period of 12 months after termination. John Kearon’s agreement can be terminated 
on six months’ notice in writing by either the Company or by John. James Geddes’ agreement can be terminated 
on 12 months’ notice in writing by the Company and six months’ notice by James.

annuaL RePoRt on RemuneRatIon

REMUnERATIOn FOR ExECUTIVE DIRECTORS

      Compensation  
    Options for loss of   
 Salary Benefits Pension Exercised office Total
year ended 31 March 2019 (audited) £ £ £ £ £  £ 

John Kearon  200,000 8,169 6,000 - - 214,169
James Geddes  190,000 6,338 11,400 169,704 - 377,442
Alex hunt  99,615 13,050 2,517 - - 115,182

Total 489,615 27,557 19,917 169,704 - 706,793

      Compensation  
    Options for loss of    
 Salary Benefits Pension Exercised office Total
year ended 31 March 2018 (audited) £ £ £ £ £  £ 

John Kearon  200,000 7,170 6,864 - - 214,034
James Geddes  190,000 5,540 11,400 - - 206,940
Alex hunt  186,724 25,460 7,469 - - 219,653
Alex Batchelor  47,500 2,700 2,850 1,194,532 214,987 1,462,569

Total 624,224 40,870 28,583 1,194,532 214,987 2,103,196
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Remuneration Report continued

The executive directors received no bonus for the year ended 31 March 2019 or for the year ended 31 March 
2018. The executive directors have not received any stock options or other equity awards other than under the 
Company’s LTIP arrangements as set out in the directors’ remuneration policy. 

DIRECTORS’ InTERESTS In ShARES AnD OPTIOnS 
Directors’ interests in the shares of the Company are shown below.

  31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018
  number number

John Kearon  2,961,235 3,320,209
James Geddes  263,178 192,325
Ken Ford (resigned 24 July 2018)  nA 20,000
Robert Brand  30,000 30,000
Graham Blashill  10,000 5,000

Total  3,264,413 3,567,534

Directors’ interests in options over shares and conditional shares of the Company are shown below.

 Date Earliest Exercise number at Exercised Lapsed number at  
 of grant exercise date price 1 Apr 2018 in year in year 31 Mar 2019

John Kearon 16/01/2015 01/05/2018 0.0p 56,568 - - 56,568
John Kearon 22/07/2015 01/05/2018 0.0p *60,000 - - *60,000

    116,568 - - 116,568

James Geddes 16/01/2015 01/05/2018 0.0p 56,568 (56,568) - -
James Geddes 22/07/2015 01/05/2018 0.0p *60,000 - - *60,000
James Geddes 22/03/2017 12/08/2021 0.0p **198,400 - - **198,400

    314,968 (56,568) - 258,400

Alex hunt 22/03/2017 12/08/2021 0.0p **198,400 - (198,400) -

* The options denoted by a single asterisk were granted under the previous LTIP. They were granted in two tranches of 137,040 and 60,000 option shares 
(totalling 197,040) to each director. They were subject to performance conditions, under which 116,568 of each director’s options vested on 30 April 2017. The 
remaining 80,472 of each director’s options lapsed.
** The options and conditional shares denoted by a double asterisk were granted under the current LTIP, as described in the directors’ remuneration policy. 
none of these vest until 12 August 2021.

There were no equity awards or vesting of options other than under the LTIP as set out in the directors’ remu-
neration policy.

FEES FOR nOn-ExECUTIVE DIRECTORS (AUDITED)
The non-executive directors received fees, but no other benefits, as follows.

  year to 31 Mar year to 31 Mar

  2019 2018
  £ £

Graham Blashill  38,217 34,650
Ken Ford (resigned 24 July 2018)  12,950 38,850
Robert Brand  36,883 34,650
Sophie Tomkins  30,000 n/A
Jane Wakely  27,000 n/A

Total  145,050 108,150
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Directors’ Responsibility Statement

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, Directors’ Report, the Annual Report and the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law 
the directors have elected to prepare the Group financial statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union (IFRSs) and the parent company financial statements in 
accordance with FRS 101 Reduced Disclosure Framework. Under company law the directors must not approve 
the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs and 
profit or loss of the Company and Group for that period. In preparing these financial statements, the directors are 
required to: 
 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
 make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
 state whether applicable IFRSs and United Kingdom Accounting Standards in respect of the group and parent 

company financial statements respectively, have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed 
and explained in the financial statements; 

 prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the 
Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain 
the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the 
Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006. They 
are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence for taking reasonable steps for the 
prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities. 

The directors confirm that: 
 so far as each director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s auditor is 

unaware; and 
• the directors have taken all steps that they ought to have taken to make themselves aware of any relevant 

audit information and to establish that the auditor is aware of that information. 

The directors are responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the corporate and financial information 
included on the Company’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemina-
tion of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions. 

 
JAMES GEDDES
Company Secretary and Chief Financial Officer
5 June 2019 
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oPInIon

ouR oPInIon on the fInanCIaL StatementS IS unmodIfIed
We have audited the financial statements of System1 Group PLC (the ‘parent company’) and its subsidiaries (the 
‘group’) for the year ended 31 March 2019, which comprise the Consolidated Income Statement, Consolidated 
Statement of Comprehensive Income, Consolidated Balance Sheet, Consolidated Cashflow Statement, Consoli-
dated Statement of Changes in Equity, Company Balance Sheet, Company Statement of Changes in Equity and 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. The financial report-
ing framework that has been applied in the preparation of the group financial statements is applicable law and 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union. The financial reporting 
framework that has been applied in the preparation of the parent company financial statements is applicable 
law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial Reporting Standard 101 ‘Reduced Disclosures 
Framework’ (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In our opinion:
 the financial statements give a true and fair view of the state of the group’s and of the parent company’s 

affairs as at 31 March 2019 and of the group’s profit for the year then ended;
 the group financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the 

European Union;
 the parent company financial statements have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom 

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and
 the financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 

2006.

BaSIS foR oPInIon
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the financial statements’ section of our report. We are independent of the group and the parent com-
pany in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in 
the UK, including the FRC’s Ethical Standard as applied to listed entities, and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

ConCLuSIonS ReLatInG to GoInG ConCeRn
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK) require us to 
report to you where:
 the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial statements is not 

appropriate; or
 the directors have not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material uncertainties that may cast 

significant doubt about the group’s or the parent company’s ability to continue to adopt the going concern 
basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from the date when the financial statements are 
authorised for issue.

Independent Auditor’s Report  
to the members of System1 Group PLC
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overvieW of oUr aUdit aPProaCh
  Overall materiality: £216,000, which represents 4.7% of the group’s three-year  

 normalised profit before tax and profit related bonuses;
  Key audit matters were identified as revenue recognition and capitalisation of  

 internally generated intangible assets; and
  We performed a full scope audit of the parent company and the group financial  

 statements covering 100% of global revenue and net assets.

key audIt matteRS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit of 
the financial statements of the current period and include the most significant assessed risks of material mis-
statement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters included those that had the great-
est effect on: the overall audit strategy; the allocation of resources in the audit; and directing the efforts of the 
engagement team. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as a 
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter - Group how the matter was addressed in the audit – Group

risk 1 – revenUe reCognition
Revenue and profits could potentially be manipu-
lated by misstating revenue, including recognising 
revenue in advance of it being earned. 

The group adopted IFRS 15 “Revenue from 
contracts with customers” for the first time in these 
financial statements. The new standard is a  
significant change from the previous accounting  
standard and requires management to exercise  
more judgement.

We therefore identified the risk of inappropriate 
recognition of revenue as a significant risk, which 
was one of the most significant assessed risks of 
material misstatement.

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to: 
 Assessing whether the group’s revenue recogni-

tion policy is in accordance with IFRS 15 “Revenue 
from contracts with customers”;

 For a sample of transactions, testing that revenue 
had been recognised in accordance with IFRS 15; 

 Testing the design effectiveness of the internal 
control environment identifying the processes and 
controls over revenue, including segregation of 
duties, and carrying out walkthrough tests; 

 Vouching a sample of revenue transactions back 
to invoices, purchase orders and proof of perfor-
mance to confirm the occurrence of revenues; 

 Agreeing a sample of revenue transactions raised 
in March and April 2019 to proof of performance 
to ensure they were recognised in the correct 
period as we considered those months to be the 
highest likelihood of possible errors in respect of 
current year revenue recognition.

The group’s accounting policy on revenue recogni-
tion is shown in note 3 to the financial statements 
and related disclosures are included in notes 4  
and 26. 

KEy OBSERVATIOnS
Based on our audit work performed we concluded that 
revenue is not materially misstated.
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Independent Auditor’s Report  
to the members of System1 Group PLC continued
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risk 2 – develoPment Costs CaPitalised dUring  
the yeaR may not meet CaPItaLISatIon CRIteRIa
Under International Accounting Standards (IAS) 38 
“Intangible Assets”, development costs must be 
capitalised if recognition criteria are met, including 
determining whether the project provides a future 
economic benefit to the group. This involves signifi-
cant management judgement and therefore there 
is a risk that development costs may be incorrectly 
capitalised. 

During the year the group invested a total of 
£3.03m in the AdRatings product, of which £0.92m 
(£0.81m after amortisation) has been capitalised as 
intangible development costs and £2.22m charged 
to profits (including amortisation of £0.11m). We 
therefore identified the risk that inappropriate capi-
talisation of development costs was a significant risk, 
which was one of the most significant assessed risks 
of material misstatement.

Our audit work included, but was not restricted to: 
 Assessing of the group’s product development 

activities to ensure that capitalisation is in accor-
dance with the appropriate criteria under IAS 38 
“Intangible Assets”; 

 Discussing with management responsible for 
product development to understand the nature, 
technical and commercial feasibility of assets 
being developed; 

 Testing the design effectiveness of the internal 
control environment identifying the processes and 
controls over development costs, and carrying out 
walkthrough tests;

 Assessing and challenging assumptions used in 
budgets confirming commerciality ; and

 Testing of a sample of additions in the year includ-
ing agreeing amounts to supporting documen-
tation to ensure the amounts capitalised were 
appropriate.

The group’s accounting policy on capitalisation of 
development costs is shown in note 3 to the financial 
statements, principal accounting policies, and related 
disclosures are included in note 6.

KEy OBSERVATIOnS
Our testing did not identify any material misstate-
ments in the capitalisation of development costs in 
accordance with IAS 38.

There were no key audit matters in respect of the parent company.
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ouR aPPLICatIon of mateRIaLIty
We define materiality as the magnitude of misstatement in the financial statements that makes it probable that 
the economic decisions of a reasonably knowledgeable person would be changed or influenced. We use material-
ity in determining the nature, timing and extent of our audit work and in evaluating the results of that work. 

Materiality was determined as follows:

Materiality measure Group Parent

Financial statements as a whole £216,000 which is 4.7% of nor-
malised profit before tax. nor-
malised profit is calculated as the 
average of the profits before tax 
and profit related bonuses for the 
3 years ended 31 March 2017, 2018 
and 2019. The figure for the 12 
months to 31 March 2017 has been 
apportioned from the 15 month 
accounting period to that date to 
avoid distorting the average.

The profit benchmark is chosen 
because the business operates 
with profit-based KPIs. A nor-
malised profit has been applied 
this year because the results for 
the year were not consistent 
with past performance and we 
consider that a normalised profit 
amount reduces the impact of a 
large fluctuation.

The materiality level for the 
current year is similar to prior 
year determined materiality of 
£220,000.

£123,000 which is 2% of total 
assets but restricted to 90% of 
group materiality. This benchmark 
is considered the most appropriate 
because the parent company does 
not generate revenues and holds 
investments and loans to subsidiar-
ies and is therefore considered an 
assets-based business.

Materiality for the current year 
is higher than the level that we 
determined for the year ended  
31 March 2018 to reflect the 
change in the group assets.

 

Performance materiality used to 
drive the extent of our testing

75% of financial statement  
materiality.

75% of financial statement  
materiality.

Specific materiality We determined a lower level of 
specific materiality for certain 
areas such as Directors’ remuner-
ation and related party transac-
tions.

We determined a lower level of 
specific materiality for certain 
areas such as Directors’ remuner-
ation and related party transac-
tions.

Communication of misstatements 
to the audit committee

£11,000 and misstatements below 
that threshold that, in our view, 
warrant reporting on qualitative 
grounds.

£5,000 and misstatements below 
that threshold that, in our view, 
warrant reporting on qualitative 
grounds.
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Independent Auditor’s Report  
to the members of System1 Group PLC continued

The graph below illustrates how performance materiality interacts with our overall materiality and the tolerance 
for potential uncorrected misstatements.

an overvieW of the sCoPe of oUr aUdit
Our audit approach was a risk-based approach founded on a thorough understanding of the group’s business, its 
environment and risk profile and in particular included: 
 evaluation of the group entities’ internal controls environment through understanding the design of controls 

and testing the implementation of controls during the year;
 evaluation by the group audit team of identified components to assess the significance of that component and 

to determine the planned audit response based on a measure of materiality. Significance was determined as a 
percentage of the group’s total assets, revenues and profit before taxation, with revenue being the key factor 
for trading entities;

 full scope audit procedures were performed at parent company financial statements. Targeted audit proce-
dures were performed for the audit of the subsidiaries;

 Our audit testing covered 100% of the group’s revenue and expenditure and of its total assets and liabilities.

otheR InfoRmatIon
The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report and accounts, other than the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and, except to the extent other-
wise explicitly stated in our report, we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information 
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such 
material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether there is a 
material misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we 
are required to report that fact. 

We have nothing to report in this regard.

ouR oPInIon on otheR matteRS PReSCRIBed By the ComPanIeS aCt 2006 IS unmodIfIed
In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
 the information given in the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year for which the 

financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements; and
 the strategic report and the directors’ report have been prepared in accordance with applicable legal  

requirements. 
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matters on WhiCh We are reqUired to rePort Under the ComPanies aCt 2006
In the light of the knowledge and understanding of the group and the parent company and its environment 
obtained in the course of the audit, we have not identified material misstatements in the strategic report or the 
directors’ report. 

matters on WhiCh We are reqUired to rePort By exCePtion
We have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the Companies Act 2006 
requires us to report to you if, in our opinion:
 adequate accounting records have not been kept by the parent company, or returns adequate for our audit 

have not been received from branches not visited by us; or
 the parent company financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns; or
 certain disclosures of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or
 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit. 

ReSPonSIBILItIeS of dIReCtoRS foR the fInanCIaL StatementS
As explained more fully in the directors’ responsibilities statement set out on page 31, the directors are respon-
sible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view, and 
for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements 
that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the group’s and the parent 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group or the parent 
company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

audItoR’S ReSPonSIBILItIeS foR the audIt of the fInanCIaL StatementS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be 
expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located on the Financial 
Reporting Council’s website at: www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description forms part of our audi-
tor’s report.

uSe of ouR RePoRt
This report is made solely to the company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the company’s members 
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the company and the 
company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed.

JEREMy READ
Senior Statutory Auditor  
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP
Statutory Auditor, Chartered Accountants
Milton Keynes

5 June 2019

37



System1 Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2019

  31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018

  Consultancy AdRatings Total Total
 note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Revenue 4 26,896 3 26,899 26,939
Cost of sales 15 (4,849) - (4,849) (4,708)

GRoSS PRofIt 4 22,047 3 22,050 22,231
   
Administrative expenses 15 (17,901) (2,217) (20,118) (20,246)

oPerating Profit/(loss) 4 4,146 (2,214) 1,932 1,985

Finance income 18 2 - 2 7

Profit/(loss) Before taxation 16 4,148 (2,214) 1,934 1,992
   
Income tax expense/(credit) 19 (1,098) 421 (677) (779)

Profit/(loss) for the finanCial Period 3,050 (1,793) 1,257 1,213

attRIButaBLe to the equIty hoLdeRS 
of the ComPany  3,050 (1,793) 1,257 1,213

eaRnInGS PeR ShaRe attRIButaBLe to 
equIty hoLdeRS of the ComPany
Basic earnings per share 21   10.0p 9.9p
Diluted earnings per share 21   9.8p 9.5p

The notes on page 43 to 66 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

All of the activities of the Group are classed as continuing.

Consolidated Income Statement
for the year ended 31 March 2019
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 March 2019
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  31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018
  £’000 £’000

PRofIt foR the fInanCIaL PeRIod 1,257 1,213 
 
otheR ComPRehenSIve InCome:
ItemS that may Be SuBSequentLy ReCLaSSIfIed to PRofIt oR LoSS  
Exchange differences on translating foreign operations  2 (190)

Other comprehensive income for the period, net of tax  2 (190)

totaL ComPRehenSIve InCome foR the PeRIod attRIButaBLe to equIty hoLdeRS 1,259 1,023

The notes on pages 43 to 66 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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Consolidated Balance Sheet
as at 31 March 2019

  31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018 1 Apr 2017
   Restated* Restated*
 note £’000 £’000 £’000

aSSetS    
nOn-CURREnT ASSETS   
Property, plant and equipment 5 227 269 360
Intangible assets 6 814 26 207
Deferred tax asset 20 275 372 984

  1,316 667 1,551
CURREnT ASSETS   
Contract costs 8 208 131 95
Trade and other receivables 9 6,915 5,711 6,189
Current income tax asset  431 423 -
Cash and cash equivalents 7 4,315 5,784 8,266

  11,869 12,049 14,550

totaL aSSetS  13,185 12,716 16,101

equIty   
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITy hOLDERS OF ThE COMPAny   
Share capital  10 132 132 132
Share premium account  1,601 1,601 1,601
Merger reserve  477 477 477
Foreign currency translation reserve  223 221 411
Retained earnings  4,721 4,578 7,728

totaL equIty  7,154 7,009 10,349

LIaBILItIeS   
nOn-CURREnT LIABILITIES   
Provisions 11 610 420 505
Finance lease payable  23 70 -

  633 490 505
CURREnT LIABILITIES   
Provisions 11 225 368 288
Finance lease payable  48 46 -
Trade and other payables 12 4,591 4,223 3,828
Contract liabilities 13 534 580 637
Current income tax liabilities  - - 494

  5,398 5,217 5,247

totaL LIaBILItIeS  6,031 5,707 5,752

totaL equIty and LIaBILItIeS  13,185 12,716 16,101

* Restatement on change of accounting policy upon the adoption of IFRS15 (Refer to note 26). The notes on pages 43 to 66 are an integral part
of these consolidated financial statements. These financial statements were approved by the directors on 5 June 2019 and are signed on their 
behalf by:

JOhn KEAROn JAMES GEDDES
Director Director
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  31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018
 note £’000 £’000

net CaSh GeneRated fRom oPeRatIonS  23 1,249 3,424
Interest received 18 2 7
Tax paid  (642) (1,480)

net CaSh GeneRated fRom oPeRatInG aCtIvItIeS  609 1,951

   
Cash floWs from investing aCtivities   
Purchases of property, plant and equipment 5 (107) (91)
Purchase of intangible assets 6 (923) (22)

net CaSh uSed By InveStInG aCtIvItIeS  (1,030) (113)

net Cash floW Before finanCing aCtivities  (421) 1,838

  
Cash floWs from finanCing aCtivities  
Proceeds from finance lease  - 140
Finance lease payments  (45) (24)
Proceeds from sale of treasury shares 10 3 33
Purchase of own shares 10 - (34)
Dividends paid to owners 22 (940) (4,188)

net CaSh uSed By fInanCInG aCtIvItIeS  (982) (4,073)

net deCReaSe In CaSh and CaSh equIvaLentS   (1,403) (2,235)

CaSh and CaSh equIvaLentS at BeGInnInG of PeRIod  5,784 8,266
Exchange losses on cash and equivalents  (66) (247)

CaSh and CaSh equIvaLentS at end of PeRIod  4,315 5,784

A summary of cash flow before financing activities, separating out Ad Ratings is presented below.

  31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018
  £’000 £’000

net cash generated from operating activities  2,639 1,951
net cash used by investing activities  (107) (113)

net Cash floW Before finanCing aCtivities (Before adratings)  2,532 1,838

net cash flow used by AdRatings  (2,953) -

net Cash floW Before finanCing aCtivities (after adratings)  (421) 1,838

The notes on page 43 to 66 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated Cash Flow Statement
for the year ended 31 March 2019
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     Foreign  
   Share  currency    
  Share premium Merger translation Retained  
  capital account reserve reserve earnings Total
 note £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

at 1 aPRIL 2017  132 1,601 477 411 7,728 10,349

PRofIt foR the fInanCIaL PeRIod  - - - - 1,213 1,213
Other comprehensive income:       
- currency translation differences  - - - (190) - (190)

totaL ComPRehenSIve InCome  - - - (190) 1,213 1,023
Transactions with owners:       
Employee share options:       
- value of employee services 10 - - - - 223 223
- current tax credited to equity  - - - - 276 276
- deferred tax credited to equity 20 - - - - (673) (673)
Dividends paid to owners 22 - - - - (4,188) (4,188)
Sale of treasury shares  - - - - 33 33
Purchase of own shares  - - - - (34) (34)

  -  - - (4,363) (4,363)

at 31 maR 2018  132 1,601 477 221 4,578 7,009
       
PRofIt foR the fInanCIaL yeaR  - - - - 1,257 1,257
Other comprehensive income:       
- currency translation differences  - - - 2 - 2

totaL ComPRehenSIve InCome  - - - 2 1,257 1,259
Transactions with owners:       
Employee share options:       
- value of employee services 10 - - - - (132) (132)
- deferred tax debited to equity  - - - - (79) (79)
- current tax debited to equity 20 - - - - 34 34
Dividends paid to owners 22 - - - - (940) (940)
Sale of treasury shares 10 - - - - 3 3

  -  - - (1,114) (1,114)

at 31 maR 2019  132 1,601 477 223 4,721 7,154

The notes on pages 43 to 66 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

 

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
for the 12 months ended 31 March 2019
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notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2019

 1  GeneRaL InfoRmatIon
System1 Group PLC (“the Company”) was incorporated on 19 September 2006 in the United Kingdom. The Com-
pany’s principal operating subsidiary, System1 Research Limited (formerly BrainJuicer Limited), was at that time 
already established, having been incorporated on 29 December 1999. The address of the Company’s registered 
office is Russell Square house, 10-12 Russell Square, London WC1B 5Eh. The Company’s shares are listed on the 
Alternative Investment Market of the London Stock Exchange (“AIM”).

The Company and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) provide marketing and market research consultancy 
services. The Chairman’s Statement, the Chief Executive’s Statement and the Business and Financial Review pro-
vide further detail of the Group’s operations and principal activities.

The Board of Directors approved these financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2019 (including the 
comparatives for the year ended 31 March 2018) on 5 June 2019.

 2  BaSIS of PRePaRatIon
The Group has prepared its consolidated financial statements in accordance with International Financial Report-
ing Standards (“IfRSs”) as adopted in the European Union, IFRIC Interpretations and the Companies Act 2006 
applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention.

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying the Group’s account-
ing policies. The areas involving a high degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where estimates and judge-
ments are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 3.

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional Currency’). The consolidated 
financial statements are presented in Pounds Sterling (GBP), which is the Company’s functional and presentation 
currency.

 
 3  PRInCIPaL aCCountInG PoLICIeS
The principal accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the financial statements for the year 
ended 31 March 2018, except for the first time adoption of IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts with customers’ and 
IFRS 9, ‘Financial Instruments’ (both Standards effective for accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January 
2018).

IFRS 15 presents new requirements for the recognition of revenue, replacing IAS 18 ‘Revenue’, IAS 11 
‘Construction Contracts’, and several revenue-related Interpretations. The adoption of IFRS 15 has had no mate-
rial impact on these accounts other than with respect to the reclassification of balance sheet items, as set out in 
note 26. As a result of the reclassification of balance sheet items on adoption of IFRS 15, the comparative bal-
ance sheet presented in these financial statements as at 31 March 2018 is not the same as that presented in the 
audited financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2018. The Group has adopted IFRS 15 Revenue from 
Contracts with Customers from 1 April 2018 under the full retrospective method.

The Group’s revenues are primarily from the delivery of research services.
Revenue is recognised at a point in time (rather than over time) as the key performance obligation is the deliv-

ery of the final written debrief to the client.
Revenue from all of the Group’s Research product lines (Communications, Brand, Innovation, and other 

research products) and its advertising agency services are recognised on the same basis.
IFRS 9 introduced extensive changes to IAS 39’s guidance on the classification and measurement of financial 

assets and introduces a new ‘expected credit loss’ model for the impairment of financial assets. IFRS 9 also pro-
vides new guidance on the application of hedge accounting. 

The adoption of IFRS 9 has had no material impact on these financial statements. The Group has applied  
IFRS 9 from 1 April 2018, and no financial instruments that have been previously designated as measured at fair 
value are no longer so designated. Comparative information has not been restated as the impact on prior periods 
is also not material.
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notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2019

 3  PRInCIPaL aCCountInG PoLICIeS continued

STAnDARDS, AMEnDMEnTS AnD InTERPRETATIOnS In ISSUE BUT nOT yET EFFECTIVE
The following standards, amendments and interpretations to existing standards, relevant to the financial state-
ments of the Group, have been published and are mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning on or 
after 1 April 2019 or later periods. The Group has not adopted them early, so they have not been applied to these 
financial statements.

IFRS 16, ‘LEASES’ (EFFECTIVE 1 JAnUARy 2019) 
IFRS 16 replaces the current guidance in IAS 17 and will require significant changes in accounting by lessees in 
particular. The standard applies to annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with earlier applica-
tion permitted if IFRS 15, Revenue from Contracts with Customers, is also applied. Under IAS 17, lessees were 
required to make a distinction between a finance lease (on balance sheet) and an operating lease (off balance 
sheet). IFRS 16 now requires lessees to recognise a lease liability reflecting future lease payments and a ‘right-
of-use asset’ for virtually all lease contracts. The IASB has included an optional exemption for lessees for certain 
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets.

Under IFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an iden-
tified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Company has undertaken a preliminary assessment, and the standard will have an impact on the balance 
sheet (with the recognition of lease liabilities and right of use assets, upon which finance charges and straight-line 
depreciation will be charged respectively), but insignificant impact on net assets and Profit Before Tax.

BASIS OF COnSOLIDATIOn
The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and all of its subsidiary undertakings drawn up 
to 31 March 2019.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has power over the subsidiary, i.e. the Group has existing 
rights that give it the ability to direct the relevant activities (the activities that significantly affect the subsidiary’s 
returns), exposure or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the subsidiary and the ability to use its 
power over the subsidiary to affect the amount of the subsidiary’s returns.

The Group obtains and exercises control through voting rights.
The existence and effect of potential voting rights that are currently exercisable or convertible are considered 

when assessing whether the Group controls another entity. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on 
which control is transferred to the Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group uses the acquisition method of accounting to account for business combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities incurred 
and the equity interests issued by the Group. The consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset 
or liability resulting from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition related costs are expensed as 
incurred. Identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 
measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. 

On an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, the Group recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree 
either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the acquiree’s net assets.

The excess of the consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in the acquiree and 
the acquisition-date fair value of any previous equity interest in the acquiree over the fair value of the Group’s 
share of the identifiable net assets acquired is recorded as goodwill.

All intra-group transactions and balances are eliminated on consolidation. Unrealised gains on transactions 
between the Group and its subsidiaries are eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transac-
tion provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Amounts reported in the financial statements 
of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted 
by the Group.
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 3  PRInCIPaL aCCountInG PoLICIeS continued

PROPERTy, PLAnT AnD EQUIPMEnT
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of all property, plant and equipment to its 
residual value on a straight-line basis over its expected useful economic lives, which are as follows:
Furniture, fittings and equipment  5 years
Computer hardware 2 to 3 years

The residual value and useful life of each asset is reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each balance  
sheet date. 

InTAnGIBLE ASSETS

SOFTWARE
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised at the cost of acquisition.

Costs incurred in the development of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group, and 
that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible 
assets.

Costs include professional fees and directly-attributable employee costs required to bring the software into 
working condition. non-attributable costs are expensed under the relevant income statement heading.

RESEARCh AnD DEVELOPMEnT – InTERnALLy GEnERATED InTAnGIBLE ASSETS
All on-going research expenditure is expensed in the year in which it is incurred. Development costs incurred in 
the development of the Company’s new AdRatings product are capitalised as an internally generated asset when 
all criteria for capitalisation are met. The AdRatings product comprises the product platform and the data avail-
able to product subscribers.

Costs relating to the research phase of the product, amounting to £2.11m in the year to 31 March 2019  
(31 March 2018: £nil) have been expensed during the period. Development costs include professional fees and 
directly-attributable employee costs required to bring the software into working condition. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is charged to administrative expenses  
in the period in which it is incurred.

 Furthermore, internally-generated software and product development costs are recognised as an intangible 
asset only if the Group can demonstrate all of the following conditions:

(a)  the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale; 
(b)  its intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
(c) its ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
(d) how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits; 
(e) among other things, the Group can demonstrate the existence of a market for the output of the intangible  

 asset or the intangible asset itself or, if it is to be used internally, the usefulness of the intangible asset;
(f) the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to  

 use or sell the intangible asset; 
(g) its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.

AMORTISATIOn
Acquired computer software licenses are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful economic 
life of two years.

Internally-generated intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful economic lives.
The Group’s main research software platform, which it developed over a number of years, was introduced in 

2011, at a cost of £1,604,000. It was amortised over 7 years and is now fully amortised.
The AdRatings platform and the cost of data being made available to subscribers are being amortised over a 

period of 3 years on a straight line basis. 
Amortisation on all intangible assets is charged to administrative expenses.
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notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2019

 3  PRInCIPaL aCCountInG PoLICIeS continued

IMPAIRMEnT OF PROPERTy, PLAnT AnD EQUIPMEnT AnD InTAnGIBLE ASSETS
At each balance sheet date the Group reviews the carrying amount of its property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets for any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, 
if any. Intangible assets not available for use are tested for impairment on at least an annual basis. The recover-
able amount is the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 

CASh AnD CASh EQUIVALEnTS
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash in hand and bank deposits available on demand.

COnTRACT COSTS
Contract costs comprise directly-attributable external costs incurred in fulfilling customer contracts that relate to 
incomplete market research projects. The Group assesses at each balance sheet date whether there is objective 
evidence that contract cost assets are impaired and provision is made when there is evidence that the Group will 
not be able to recover all costs incurred under the terms of the customer contract.

InCOME TAxES
Current income tax liabilities comprise those obligations to fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior 
reporting period, that are unpaid at the balance sheet date. They are calculated according to the tax rates and 
tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date applicable to the fiscal periods to 
which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year.

All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are recognised as a component of tax expense in the income 
statement, except where they relate to items charged or credited to other comprehensive income or directly to 
equity.

Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences. This involves the 
comparison of the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements with their 
respective tax bases. In addition, tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other income tax credits to 
the Group are assessed for recognition as deferred tax assets.

Deferred tax liabilities are always provided for in full. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 
is probable that the underlying deductible temporary differences will be able to be offset against future taxable 
income. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to 
apply to their respective period of realisation, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the balance 
sheet date. Deferred tax is recognised as a component of tax expense in the income statement, except where it 
relates to items charged or credited to other comprehensive income or directly to equity.

OPERATInG LEASE AGREEMEnTS
Rentals applicable to operating leases where substantially all of the benefits and risks of ownership remain with 
the lessor are charged to the income statement net of any incentives received from the lessor on a straight-line 
basis over the period of the lease.

REVEnUE RECOGnITIOn
The Group’s revenues are primarily from the delivery of research and advertising agency services. Revenue from 
all of the Group’s Research product lines (Communications, Brand, Innovation, and other research products) and 
its advertising agency services arise from contracts with customers within the scope of IFRS 15 and are recog-
nised on the same basis, as set out below.

Revenue is recognised at a point in time (rather than over time) as the key performance obligation is the deliv-
ery of the final written debrief to the client.

Revenue is recognised only after the final written debrief or creative content (in respect of our Agency busi-
ness) has been delivered to the client, except on the rare occasion that a large project straddles a financial period 
end, and that project can be sub-divided into separate discrete deliverables; in such circumstances revenue is 
recognised on delivery of each separate deliverable. There are no elements of variable consideration in the con-
tracts entered into by the Group. Revenue is measured by reference to the fair value of consideration receivable, 
excluding sales taxes. 
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 3  PRInCIPaL aCCountInG PoLICIeS continued

COST OF SALES
Cost of sales includes external costs attributable to client projects. For the research business, these include 
respondent sample, data processing, language translation and similar costs, and for the advertising agency they 
are mainly freelance creative costs and the costs of production of advertising.

EMPLOyEE BEnEFITS
All accumulating employee-compensated absences that are unused at the balance sheet date are recognised as 
a liability. The Group operates several defined contribution pension plans. The Group pays contributions to these 
plans based upon the contractual terms agreed with each employee.

The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are 
recognised as employee benefit expense when they are due.

ShARE-BASED PAyMEnT TRAnSACTIOnS
The Group issues equity-settled share-based compensation to certain employees (including directors). Equity-
settled share-based payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant. The fair value determined at the 
grant date of the equity-settled share-based payment is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, 
together with a corresponding increase in equity, based upon the Group’s estimate of the shares that will eventu-
ally vest.

With the exception of market-based elements of awards, these estimates are subsequently revised if there 
is any indication that the number of options expected to vest differs from previous estimates. Any cumulative 
adjustment prior to vesting is recognised in the current period. no adjustment is made to any expense recognised 
in prior periods. The fair value of option awards with time vesting performance conditions are measured at the 
date of grant using a Black-Scholes based Option Valuation model. The expected life used in the model has been 
adjusted, based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of non-transferability, exercise restrictions and 
behavioural considerations.

The fair value of awards made with market-based performance conditions (for example, the entity’s share 
price) are measured at the grant date using a Monte Carlo simulation method incorporating the market condi-
tions in the calculations. The awards made in respect of the Group’s long-term incentive scheme have been 
measured using such a method.

Social security contributions payable in connection with the grant of share options are considered integral to 
the grant itself, and the charge is treated as a cash-settled transaction.

PROVISIOnS
Provisions for sabbatical leave and dilapidations are recognised when: (i) the Group has a legal or construc-
tive obligation as a result of past events; (ii) it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle 
the obligation; and (iii) the amount has been reliably estimated. Where material, the increase in provisions due 
to passage of time is recognised as interest expense. The provision for sabbatical leave is measured using the 
projected unit credit method. The provision for dilapidations is measured at the present value of expenditures 
expected to be required to settle those obligations.

FOREIGn CURREnCIES
Items included in the individual financial statements of each of the Group’s subsidiaries are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the subsidiary operates (“the functional Currency”). 
The consolidated financial statements are presented in Sterling (‘GBP’), which is the Company’s functional and 
the Group’s presentation currency. Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the Functional Currency 
at the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses arising from 
the settlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in the Income Statement.
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The results and financial position of all Group companies that have a Functional Currency different from the 
presentation currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

(a)  assets and liabilities for each balance sheet presented are translated at the closing rate at the balance  
 sheet date;

(b)  income and expenses for each income statement are translated at average exchange rates; and 
(c)  all resulting exchange differences are recognised as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the translation of the net investment in foreign opera-
tions are recognised in other comprehensive income. When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or sold, 
exchange differences that were recorded in equity are recognised in the income statement as part of the gain or 
loss on sale.

SEGMEnT REPORTInG
Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the main deci-
sion-making body of the Company, which collectively comprises the Executive Directors. The Executive Directors 
are responsible for allocating resources and assessing performance of the operating segments.

FInAnCIAL InSTRUMEnTS

FInAnCIAL ASSETS
The Group’s financial assets comprise trade and other receivables held at amortised cost. The Group does not 
possess assets held at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments or available-for-sale financial 
assets. The classification is determined by management at initial recognition, being dependent upon the purpose 
for which the financial assets were acquired. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash 
flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all 
risks and rewards of ownership. Financial assets arising from contracts with customers are separately presented 
in accordance with IFRS 15 in the Balance Sheet.

TRADE AnD OThER RECEIVABLES
Trade and other receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. Amounts previously designated as loans and receivables under IAS 39 have been 
reclassified to amortised cost under IFRS 9. The Group’s amortised cost financial assets comprise trade and other 
receivables and cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet.

Trade receivables are initially recorded at fair value, but subsequently at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. In accordance with IFRS 9, the Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the expected 
credit losses associated with its financial assets at amortised cost. The Group assesses expected credit losses 
based on the ageing of the receivable, the Group’s historical experience and informed credit assessment. The 
amount of the write-down is determined as the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present 
value of estimated future cash flows.

FInAnCIAL LIABILITIES
Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs, and subsequently carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Financial liabilities arising from contracts with custom-
ers are separately presented in accordance with IFRS 15 in the Statement of Financial Position. Financial liabilities 
and equity instruments are classified according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. 
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting 
all of its financial liabilities.

Where the contractual obligations of financial instruments (including share capital) are equivalent to a similar 
debt instrument, those financial instruments are classed as financial liabilities. 

Financial liabilities are presented as such in the balance sheet. Finance costs and gains or losses relating to 
financial liabilities are included in the income statement.

Finance costs are calculated so as to produce a constant rate of return on the outstanding liability. Where the 
contractual terms of share capital do not have any terms meeting the definition of a financial liability then this is 
classed as an equity instrument. Dividends and distributions relating to equity instruments are debited directly to 
equity.
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 3  PRInCIPaL aCCountInG PoLICIeS continued

ACCRUED AnD DEFERRED InCOME
Accrued income is recognised when a performance obligation has been satisfied but has not yet been billed. 
Accrued income is transferred to receivables when the right to consideration is unconditional and billed per 
the terms of the contractual agreement. The Group is generally paid in arrears for its services and invoices are 
typically payable within 60 days. In certain cases, payments are received from customers prior to satisfaction of 
performance obligations and recognised as deferred income. These balances are considered contract liabilities. 
There is no significant passage of time between the receipt of funds from a customer and the delivery of services, 
or between the delivery of services to a customer and the receipt of funds when payment is in arrears. The Group 
does not enter into contractual arrangements with significant financing components. 

ShARE CAPITAL
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.

ShARE PREMIUM 
Share premium represents the excess over nominal value of the fair value of consideration received for equity 
shares, net of direct expenses of the share issue.

MERGER RESERVE
The merger reserve represents the difference between the parent company’s cost of investment and a subsid-
iary’s share capital and share premium. The merger reserve in these accounts has arisen from a group recon-
struction upon the incorporation and listing of the parent company that was accounted for as a common control 
transaction.

Common control transactions are accounted for using merger accounting rather than the acquisition method, 
where this reflects the substance of the transaction.

FOREIGn CURREnCy TRAnSLATIOn RESERVE 
The foreign currency translation reserve represents the differences arising from translation of investments in 
overseas subsidiaries.

TREASURy ShARES
Where the Company purchases the Company’s equity share capital, the consideration paid is deducted from the 
total shareholders’ equity and classified as treasury shares until they are cancelled. Where such shares are sub-
sequently sold or re-issued, any consideration received is included in total shareholders’ equity. no gain or loss is 
recognised on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments. 

SIGnIFICAnT ACCOUnTInG ESTIMATES AnD JUDGEMEnTS

ShARE BASED PAyMEnTS
The fair value of options granted is determined using a Black Scholes based Employee Stock Option Valuation 
model (for the employee share option scheme) and a Monte Carlo simulation model (for the long-term incentive 
scheme). These models require a number of estimates and assumptions. The significant inputs into the models 
are share price at grant date, exercise price, historic exercise multiples, expected volatility and the risk-free rate. 
Volatility is measured at the standard deviation of expected share price returns based on statistical analysis of 
historical share prices. These inputs are provided in note 10.

In previous years the Company has often purchased shares arising from the exercise of share options in order 
to minimise shareholder dilution and create shareholder value. IFRS 2 does not provide guidance on the applica-
tion of ‘substance over form’ when evaluating whether a share based payment should be accounted for as equity 
or cash settled.

In order to determine whether the Company’s share options are equity or cash-settled, consideration needs 
to be given as to whether the settlement of the share options through the issue and subsequent repurchase of 
treasury shares should be treated as one transaction or as two distinct transactions, and whether the Company 
has an obligation to settle in cash.
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The Company does not publicise to option holders that option shares may be repurchased, the decision to 
repurchase option shares is only made at the point of option exercise, and there is no contractual or other obliga-
tion to settle in cash. Therefore, it is appropriate to treat the exercise of options and repurchase of option shares 
as two separate transactions and account for the option exercise as equity-settled rather than cash-settled.

In the past the Company has on occasion cash-settled part of long-term incentive plan equity awards. Despite 
the repurchase of these equity interests the Company did not have an obligation to do so and does not have an 
obligation, constructive or otherwise to do so in the future. As a result, the Company continues to account for 
share-based payments related to its long-term incentive plans as equity rather than cash-settled.

EMPLOyEE BEnEFITS
The Group has a sabbatical leave scheme, open to all employees, which provides 20 days paid leave for each 
six years’ of service. The carrying amount of the provision at the balance sheet date amounted to £753,000 (31 
March 2018: £706,000). The provision for liabilities under the scheme is measured using the projected unit credit 
method. This model requires a number of estimates and assumptions. The significant inputs into the model are 
rate of salary growth and average staff turnover as explained in note 11.

CAPITALISATIOn OF ADRATInGS PLATFORM
The Group has capitalised £923,000 in respect of costs incurred in the development of the AdRatings Platform. 
The point at which development costs meet the criteria for capitalisation is dependent upon management’s 
judgement as to the point at which the Group can demonstrate the existence of a market for the output of the 
intangible asset and the carrying value of development assets is dependent on management’s ability to demon-
strate the future economic benefits they will deliver. 

The Group tests capitalised development costs for impairment on an annual basis by reference to expected 
future cash generation from the AdRatings product. In estimating future cash generation, management make 
judgements by reference to budgets and forecasts about the amount and timing of future profits. Details are 
contained in note 6. 
 
 4  SeGment InfoRmatIon
The financial performance of the Group’s geographic operating units (“reportable segments”) is set out 
below.  

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018*

 Revenue Gross Operating Revenue Gross Operating 
  profit  profit/(loss)  profit profit/(loss) 
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000  £’000 £’000

ReSeaRCh      
Americas 11,657 9,538 4,682 11,764 10,189 4,851
United Kingdom 6,022 5,034 2,399 6,044 5,051 2,667
Continental Europe 6,770 5,447 3,142 5,751 4,582 2,629
APAC 1,873 1,605 826 2,410 2,036 969

 26,322 21,624 11,049 25,969 21,858 11,116

adveRtISInG aGenCy      
United Kingdom 577 426 (222) 970 373 (397)

 26,899 22,050 10,827 26,939 22,231 10,719

*Operating segments in the prior year reported ‘Americas’ as two separate units, being US and Brazil, and APAC as Australia and Asia as separate segments. 
This has been aligned to the reporting structure used in the current year and the comparatives represented accordingly. 

Segmental revenue is revenue generated from external customers and so excludes intercompany revenue and 
is attributable to geographical areas based upon the location in which the service is delivered. Segmental operat-
ing profit excludes allocation of central overheads relating to the Group’s Operations, IT, Marketing, hR, Legal 
and Finance teams and Board of Directors.
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All revenues are recognised when the research results are delivered to the client.
Consolidated balance sheet information is regularly provided to the executive directors, but segment balance 

sheet information is not, and accordingly the Company does not disclose segment balance sheet information 
here.

System1 Group PLC (the ultimate parent company) is domiciled in the UK. As at 31 March 2019, consolidated 
non-current assets, other than financial instruments and deferred tax assets, located in the UK is £968,000 and 
located in other countries is £73,000. As at 31 March 2018 the respective amounts were £205,000 and £90,000.

The split of business by research solution is set out below.

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018

   Revenue Gross Profit  Revenue Gross Profit 
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

ReSeaRCh BuSIneSS    
Communications (Ad Testing)   8,473 7,372 7,884 6,994
Brand (Brand Tracking)   4,985 3,699 5,846 4,511
Innovation (Predictive Markets and Concept Testing)   10,456 8,986 9,808 8,404

   23,914 20,057 23,538 19,909

Other services   2,408 1,567 2,431 1,949

   26,322 21,624 25,969 21,858

adveRtISInG aGenCy BuSIneSS   577 426 970 373

   26,899 22,050 26,939 22,231

A reconciliation of total operating profit for Reportable Segments to total profit before income tax is set out 
below.

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018 
 £’000 £’000

oPeRatInG PRofIt foR RePoRtaBLe SeGmentS 10,827 10,719
Central overheads (including exceptional credit of £251,000 – see note 25) (6,678) (8,734)
AdRatings costs (3,030) -
AdRatings development costs capitalised 923 -
Amortisation of AdRatings development costs (110) -

oPeRatInG PRofIt 1,932 1,985
Finance income 2 7

PRofIt BefoRe InCome tax 1,934 1,992

Over the year to 31 March 2019, the Group earned revenue of £1,499,000 from its largest customer, rep-
resenting 6% of consolidated revenue (31 March 2018: 10%). Consolidated revenue from the Group’s largest 
customer in each year is split by geographic segment as set out below.

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018  
 £’000 £’000

Continental Europe 775 952
Americas 632 949
APAC 92 507
UK - 155

 1,499 2,563
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 5 PRoPeRty, PLant and equIPment

 Furniture,  
 fittings and  Computer  
 equipment hardware Total
For the year ended 31 March 2019 £’000 £’000 £’000

at 1 aPRIL 2018   
Cost  562 1,160 1,722
Accumulated depreciation (359) (1,094) (1,453)

nET BOOK AMOUnT 203 66 269

yeaR ended 31 maRCh 2019   
OPEnInG nET BOOK AMOUnT 203 66 269
Additions 1 106 107
Disposals (2) - (2)
Foreign exchange 3 1 4
Depreciation charge for the year (74) (77) (151)

CLOSInG nET BOOK AMOUnT 131 96 227

at 31 maRCh 2019   
Cost  553 1,285 1,837
Accumulated depreciation (422) (1,189) (1,611)

net Book amount 131 96 227

 Furniture,  
 fittings and  Computer  
 equipment hardware Total
For the year ended 31 March 2018 £’000 £’000 £’000

at 1 aPRIL 2017   
Cost  550 1,130 1,680
Accumulated depreciation (289) (1,031) (1,320)

nET BOOK AMOUnT 261 99 360

yeaR ended 31 maRCh 2018   
OPEnInG nET BOOK AMOUnT 261 99 360
Additions 25 66 91
Disposals - (1) (1)
Foreign exchange (6) (3) (9)
Depreciation charge for the year (77) (95) (172)

CLOSInG nET BOOK AMOUnT 203 66 269

at 31 maRCh 2018   
Cost  562 1,160 1,722
Accumulated depreciation (359) (1,094) (1,453)

net Book amount 203 66 269
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 6 IntanGIBLe aSSetS

 Development costs Software Software Total 
 (AdRatings) licenses
For the year ended 31 March 2019 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

at 1 aPRIL 2018    
Cost  - 697 1,672 2,369
Accumulated amortisation - (671) (1,672) (2,343)

nET BOOK AMOUnT - 26 - 26

yeaR ended 31 maRCh 2019   
OPEnInG nET BOOK AMOUnT - 26 - 26
Additions 923 - - 923
Amortisation charge (110) (25) - (135)

CLoSInG net Book amount 813 1 - 814

at 31 maRCh 2019   
Cost  923 697 1,672 3,292
Accumulated amortisation (110) (696) (1,672) (2,478)

net Book amount 813 1 - 814

 Software licenses Software Total
For the year ended 31 March 2018 £’000 £’000 £’000

at 1 aPRIL 2017    
Cost  674 1,672 2,346
Accumulated amortisation (639) (1,500) (2,139)

nET BOOK AMOUnT 35 172 207

yeaR ended 31 maRCh 2018   
OPEnInG nET BOOK AMOUnT 35 172 207
Additions 22 - 22
Amortisation charge (31) (172) (203)

CLoSInG net Book amount 26 - 26

at 31 maRCh 2018   
Cost  697 1,672 2,369
Accumulated amortisation (671) (1,672) (2,343)

net Book amount 26 - 26

Software comprises the Group’s main research software platform, which it developed over a number of years 
and introduced in 2011, at a cost of £1,604,000. It was amortised over 7 years and is now fully amortised. The 
carrying amount of this asset at the balance sheet date was £nil (31 Mar 2018: £nil).

Development costs comprise amounts capitalised for the Group’s AdRatings product. This comprises the plat-
form and the data available to subscribers, which are amortised over three years. 

The carrying value of the AdRatings product has been tested for impairment as at 31 March 2019. The carrying 
value of the asset has been allocated to the AdRatings cash generating unit (‘CGU’) for the purposes of assessing 
future cashflows. The principal assumptions used in the forecast are the timing and amount of future revenues 
and profit margins. no terminal growth rate applies as the period of assessment has been limited to the three-
year useful economic life assigned to the asset. For similar reasons the impairment analysis is not sensitive to the 
discount rate, which is derived from the pre-tax WACC of the Group. 

Revenue and margin assumptions have been based on the latest forecasts approved by the Board. 
Management have considered the sensitivity of the impairment assessment to key assumptions, being the 

timing and quantum of revenues, and have determined that no impairment charge would arise if the com-
mencement of revenue generation were to be delayed by three months or if target subscription numbers were 
to be reduced by 50%. These sensitivities do not take account of any associated reduction in forecast spend. 
Management are not currently aware of any circumstances which would lead to actual results deviating from 
assumptions by more than the parameters set out above.
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 7 fInanCIaL RISk manaGement
The Group’s financial risk management policies and objectives are explained in the Directors’ report.

CREDIT RISK
The Group reviews and manages credit risk, arising from trade receivables and cash and cash equivalents, on a 
consolidated basis. The vast majority of the Group’s clients are large blue-chip organisations, and the Group has 
only ever suffered minimal bad debts. The Group has concentrations of credit risk as follows.

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018
 £’000 £’000

CASh AnD CASh EQUIVALEnTS  
hSBC Bank PLC (AA credit rating) 3,849 5,079
Santander 231 258
Deutsche Bank 154 324
UBS 79 97
Other banks 2 26

 4,315 5,784

TRADE RECEIVABLES  
Largest customer by revenue  161 788

FInAnCIAL InSTRUMEnTS By CATEGORy
At the balance sheet date the Group held the following financial instruments by category.

aSSetS and LIaBILItIeS aS PeR BaLanCe Sheet 

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018
 £’000 £’000

FInAnCIAL ASSETS CARRIED AT AMORTISED COST  
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments and accrued income) 6,102 5,270
Cash and cash equivalents 4,315 5,784

 10,417 11,054

OThER FInAnCIAL LIABILITIES CARRIED AT AMORTISED COST  
Trade payables 1,990 1,115
Accruals 2,309 2,519
Finance lease payable (£23,000 payable after one year) 71 116

 4,370 3,750

The application of IFRS 9 resulted in cash and cash equivalents and trade and other receivables being reclassi-
fied from loans and receivables to amortised cost. There have been no material changes in the carrying amounts 
of financial assets and financial liabilities arising from the adoption of IFRS 9.

Of the Group’s financial liabilities (of £4,370,000), £23,000 is payable in greater than one year of the balance 
sheet date. The payment of the Group’s financial liabilities will be financed from existing cash to their fair value.

 8 ContRaCt CoStS

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018
 £’000 £’000

COnTRACT COSTS 208 131

notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2019
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 9 tRade and otheR ReCeIvaBLeS

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018
 £’000 £’000

Trade receivables 5,794 4,987
Other receivables 308 283
Prepayments and accrued income 813 441

 6,915 5,711

Trade and other receivables are due within one year and are not interest bearing. The maximum exposure to 
credit risk at the balance sheet date is the carrying amount of receivables (detailed above). The Group does not 
hold any collateral as security. The Directors do not believe that there is a significant concentration of credit risk 
within the trade receivables balance. 

ImPaIRment of fInanCIaL aSSetS

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018
 £’000 £’000

Opening balance - 24
Charged to the income statement 64 -
Utilisations and other movements - (24)

PROVIDED AT yEAR-EnD 64 -

The Group has financial assets that are subject to the new IFRS 9 expected credit loss model and the Group 
was required to revise its impairment methodology under IFRS 9 for these assets. The Group has applied the 
simplified approach to measuring expected credit losses as permitted by IFRS 9 and recognises a loss allowance 
based on the financial assets’ lifetime expected loss. 

The identified impairment change at transition was immaterial and the impact of the change in impairment 
methodology on the Group’s retained earnings was assessed as £nil. The Group assesses on a forward-looking 
basis, the expected credit losses associated with its debt instruments carried at amortised cost. The Group 
assesses expected credit losses based on the ageing of the receivable, the Group’s historical experience and 
informed credit assessment. Further credit losses are recognised where the Group has information that indicates 
it is unlikely to recover balances in full. 

The Group has no financial assets designated as measured at fair value. In the prior year, the impairment 
of trade receivables was assessed based on the incurred loss model. The Group established an allowance for 
impairment that represented its estimate of incurred losses where it was deemed that a receivable may not have 
been recoverable. When the debt was deemed irrecoverable the allowance account was written off against the 
underlying receivable. 

As of 31 March 2019, trade receivables of £2,070,000 were past due but not impaired (31 March 2018: 
£1,684,000). The ageing of trade receivables, and the associated loss allowance, is as follows.

 not past due Up to 3 months 3 to 6 months  Over 6 months
31 March 2019 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Gross trade receivables 3,724 1,757 269 108
Loss allowance   - - 64 -

Expected loss rate   0.0% - 23.8% 0.0%

 not past due Up to 3 months 3 to 6 months  Over 6 months
31 March 2018 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

Gross trade receivables 3,303 1,045 639 -
Loss allowance   - - - -

Expected loss rate   0.0% 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

As of 31 March 2019, no other receivables or contract costs were impaired (31 March 2018: £nil).
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 9  tRade and otheR ReCeIvaBLeS continued

The carrying amount of the Group’s trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies.

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018
 £’000 £’000

US Dollar 2,727 1,529
Sterling 2,507 1,746
Euro 885 1,104
Brazilian Real 353 490
Swiss Franc 217 242
Chinese yuan 24 397
Australian Dollar 107 148
Singapore Dollar 95 55

 6,915 5,711

 
 10 ShaRe CaPItaL
The share capital of System1 Group PLC consists only of fully paid Ordinary Shares (“Shares”) with a par value of 
one pence each. All Shares are equally eligible to receive dividends and the repayment of capital, and represent 
one vote at the Annual General Meeting.

aLLotted, CaLLed uP and fuLLy PaId oRdInaRy ShaReS

 number £’000

At 1 April 2018 and at 31 March 2019 13,226,773 132

During the year ended 31 March 2019 the Company transferred 100,192 Shares out of treasury to satisfy the 
exercise of employee share options at a weighted average exercise price of nIL pence per share for total consid-
eration of £3,000. The weighted average share price at exercise date was 270 pence per share.

At 31 March 2019, the Company had 13,226,773 Shares in issue (31 March 2018: 13,226,773) of which 650,156 
were held in treasury (31 March 2018: 750,348). The treasury Shares will be used to help satisfy the requirements 
of the Group’s share incentive schemes.

ShARE OPTIOnS

EMPLOyEE ShARE OPTIOn SChEME
The Group issues share options to directors and to employees under an hM Revenue and Customs approved 
Enterprise Management Incentive (EMI) scheme and also under an unapproved scheme.

The exercise price for share options granted historically is equal to the mid-market opening quoted market 
price of the Company’s Shares on the date of grant, and in general, they vested evenly over a period of one to 
three years following grant date. Options granted in more recent years have been awarded in accordance with 
management long-term incentive plans and such options have a zero exercise price and are subject to perfor-
mance criteria. If share options remain unexercised after a period of ten years from the date of grant, the options 
expire. Share options are forfeited in some circumstances if the employee leaves the Group before the options 
vest, unless otherwise agreed by the Group.
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 10  ShaRe CaPItaL continued

Movements in the number of share options outstanding and their related weighted average exercise prices 
are as follows.

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018

   Average   Average
   exercise price  exercise price  
   per share Options per share Options 
   Pence no Pence no

Opening balance   4.7 1,393,329 4.8 2,043,938
Granted   - - - -
Lapsed   - (198,400) - (428,370)
Cancelled   - (132,267) - -
Exercised   - (100,192) 0.1 (222,239)

CLOSInG BALAnCE   6.4 962,470 4.7 1,393,329

ExERCISABLE AT EnD OF PERIOD   17.4 355,823 14.2 456,015

The weighted average share price at date of exercise of options exercised during the year ended 31 March 
2019 was 270 (year ended 31 March 2018: 738) pence.

At 31 March 2019 and 31 March 2018, the Group had the following outstanding options and exercise prices.

 31 March 2019 31 March 2018

 Average  Weighted Average  Weighted 
 exercise  average exercise  average 
 price   remaining   price  remaining  
 per share Options  contractual life per share Options contractual life
Expiry date Pence no Months Pence no Months

2019 - - - 94.0 3,011 9.3
2020 50.6 122,687 12.1 38.0 163,300 24.6
2025 - 233,136 72.8 - 289,704 84.2
2027 - 606,647 95.8 - 937,314 107.9

 6.4 962,470 79.5 4.7 1,393,329 93.0

LOnG TERM InCEnTIVE SChEMES
During the year 198,400 of the options held by Alex hunt lapsed, under the long-term incentive scheme approved 
at a General Meeting on 22 March 2017. A further 132,267 options were cancelled. Options outstanding under 
the scheme number 606,647 (31 March 2018: 937,314).

ShARE-BASED PAyMEnT ChARGE
The total credit relating to equity-settled employee share-based payment plans (for both the employee stock 
option plan and the senior executive long-term incentive plans) was £132,000 for the year ended 31 March 2019 
(31 March 2018: charge of £223,000). The associated credit for social security was £64,000 for the year ended 31 
March 2019 (31 March 2018: £158,000 credit). 
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 11 PRovISIonS

 Sabbatical  Dilapidation 
 provision provisions Total
 £’000  £’000  £’000 

AT 1 APRIL 2017 711 82 793
Provided in the year 86 - 86
Utilised in the year (91) - (91)

AT 31 MARCh 2018 706 82 788

Provided in the year 158 - 158
Utilised in the year (111) - (111)

AT 31 MARCh 2019 753 82 835

Of which:  
Current 225 - 225
non-current 528 82 610

 753 82 835

The Group has a sabbatical leave scheme, open to all employees. The scheme provides 20 days paid leave for 
each successive period of six years’ service. There is no proportional entitlement for shorter periods of service. 
The provision for the liabilities under the scheme is measured using the projected unit credit method. The calcu-
lation of the provision for the year ended 31 March 2019 assumes an annual rate of growth in salaries of 7% (year 
ended 31 March 2018: 7%), a discount rate of 1.6% (year ended 31 March 2018: 2.2%), based upon good quality 
6-year corporate bond yields, and an average staff turnover rate of 19% (year ended 31 March 2018: 19%). 

Dilapidation provisions represent the Group’s best estimate of costs required to meet its obligations under 
property lease agreements.

 12 tRade and otheR PayaBLeS

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018
 £’000 £’000

Trade payables 1,990 1,115
Social security and other taxes 292 589
Accruals 2,309 2,519

 4,591 4,223

Trade and other payables are due within one year and are not interest bearing. The contractual terms for the 
payment of trade payables are generally 45 days from receipt of invoice.

The contractual maturity of all trade and other payables is within one year of the balance sheet date.

 13 ContRaCt LIaBILItIeS

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018
 £’000 £’000

COnTRACT LIABILITIES 534 580

From time to time, payments are received from customers prior to work being completed. Such payments are 
recorded in the balance sheet as contract liabilities. 

Included within Revenue is £355,000 relating to contract liabilities recognised at 1 April 2018. no revenue has 
been recognised in the year from performance conditions satisfied, or partially satisfied in previous periods.
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 14 CommitmentS 
The Group leases offices under non-cancellable operating leases for which the future aggregate minimum lease 
payments are as follows.

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018
 £’000 £’000

No later than 1 year 1,120 1,027
Later than 1 but no later than 5 years 4,383 3,531
More than 5 years 2 1,519

 5,505 6,077

The Group has the benefit of rent-free periods in respect of its leases in London and New York. The number of 
rent-free months outstanding at the balance sheet date were as follows:

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018
 Number of  Number of  
 months months

London office lease (£493,000 per annum, expiring 15 April 2025) – 9 months’ rent free at inception 4 4
New York office lease ($492,000 per annum, expiring 31 August 2024) – 5 months’ rent free at inception 2 2

 6 6

The benefit of the rent-free months together with other lease incentives of £23,000 have been spread over 
the length of each lease.

There are no contingent payments, purchase options or restrictive covenants.

 15 exPenSeS by nature

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018 
 £’000 £’000

Employee benefit expense 11,882 12,634
Depreciation and amortisation 286 374
Net foreign exchange (gains)/losses (3) 189
Other expenses 12,802 11,757

 24,967 24,954

Analysed as:  
Cost of sales 4,849 4,708
Administrative expenses 20,118 20,246

 24,967 24,954

 16 Profit before taxation
Profit before taxation is stated after charging:

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018 

 £’000 £’000

OPErATiNG LEAsE ExPENsEs – Land and buildings 1,200 1,269

DepReciAtioN AND AMoRtisAtioN 286 374

NET LOss/(GAiN) ON fOrEiGN CurrENCY TrANsLATiON (3) 189
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 16 PRofIt BefoRe taxatIon continued

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018

   Grant  Grant Total
   Thornton UK  Thornton UK   
   LLP overseas   
    affiliates   
   £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

AUDIT AnD AUDIT RELATED FEES
Audit of parent company and consolidated accounts   51 6 57 51
Audit related assurance services   7 - 7 17

   58 6 64 68

nOn-AUDIT FEES   
Tax compliance   10 48 58 42
Tax advisory   2 36 38 10
Other services -  - 25 25 43

   12 109 121 95

   70 115 185 163

 17 emPLoyee BenefIt exPenSe
The average number of staff employed by the Group during the financial year was as follows:

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018 
 no no

nUMBER OF ADMInISTRATIVE STAFF 145 165

The aggregate employment costs of the above were:

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018  
 £’000 £’000

Wages and salaries 9,775 9,768
Social security costs 1,176 1,133
Pension costs – defined contribution plans 339 355
Long service leave cost 47 (5)
Share based remuneration (132) 223
Redundancies 101 524
Medical benefits 576 636

 11,882 12,634

The Company had 6 key management personnel as at 31 March 2019 (31 March 2018: 6), including the two 
executive directors.

Compensation to key management is set out below.

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018
 £’000 £’000 

Short-term employee benefits – salaries, bonuses and benefits in kind 662 773
Short-term employee benefits – employer social security, including £89,000 credit  
(year ended 31 March 2018: £109,000 charge) in respect of share incentive plans 32 7
Compensation for loss of office - 215
Post-employment benefits (pension costs – defined contribution plans) 19 29
Long term bonus plan (48) 55
Share-based payment (62) 154

 603 1,233

Details of directors’ emoluments are given in the Remuneration Report.

notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2019
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 18 fInanCe InCome

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018  
 £’000 £’000

Other interest receivable 2 7

 
 19 InCome tax exPenSe

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018   
 £’000 £’000

Current tax 655 843
Deferred tax 22 (64)

 677 779

Income tax expense for the year differs from the standard rate of taxation as follows:

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018   
 £’000 £’000

PROFIT On ORDInARy ACTIVITIES BEFORE TAxATIOn 1,934 1,992

Profit on ordinary activities multiplied by standard UK tax rate 367 378
Difference between tax rates applied to Group’s subsidiaries 260 372
Expenses not deductible for tax purposes 2 12
Tax on intra-group management charges (Brazil and China) 97 108
Adjustment to current tax in respect of prior years (27) (84)
Withholding tax - 8
Remeasurement of deferred tax - 12
Credit on exercise of share options taken to income statement (22) (27)

  677 779

The standard tax rate for the year ended 31 March 2019 and 2018 was 19%.
 

 20 defeRRed tax
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows.

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018  
 £’000 £’000

Deferred tax assets:  
- Deferred tax assets to be recovered after more than 12 months 121 189
- Deferred tax assets to be recovered within 12 months 175 230

 296 419

Deferred tax liabilities:  
- Deferred tax liability to be recovered within 12 months (21) (47)

DEFERRED TAx ASSET (nET): 275 372

The gross movement in deferred tax is as follows.

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018   
 £’000 £’000

OPEnInG BALAnCE 372 984
Foreign exchange differences - (3)
Income statement credit/(charge) (18) 64
Tax (debited)/credited directly to equity (79) (673)

CLOSInG BALAnCE 275 372
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 20 DeferreD tax continued

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration 
the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

DeferreD tax aSSetS 

  Other Share Dilapidation  Sabbatical  
  provisions options  provisions provision Total
  £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000  £’000 

At 1 ApRil 2018  30 242 10 137 419
Foreign exchange differences  - - - - -
Credited/(charged) to income statement  (16) (34) - 6 (44)
Debited directly to equity  - (79) - - (79)

At 31 MARCh 2019  14 129 10 143 296

  DeferreD tax LiabiLitieS

  Accelerated  
  capital  
  allowances
  £’000 

At 1 ApRil 2018  (47)
Foreign exchange differences  -
Charged to income statement  26

At 31 MARCh 2019  (21)

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that their recoverability is considered probable. There 
are no unrecognised deferred tax assets.

The deferred tax asset in respect of the Company’s share option plans relates to corporate tax deductions 
available on exercise of employee share options.

 21 earninGS Per Share

(A) BASiC eArningS per ShAre
Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity holders of the Company by the 
weighted average number of Ordinary Shares in issue during the year.

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018 

prOFiT ATTriBuTABle TO equiTy hOlDerS OF The COmpAny (£’000) 1,257 1,213
  
Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares in issue 12,547,658 12,265,507

BASiC eArningS per ShAre 10.0p 9.9p

(B) DiluTeD eArningS per ShAre
Diluted earnings per share is calculated by adjusting the weighted average number of shares outstanding assum-
ing conversion of all dilutive share options to Ordinary Shares.

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018 

prOFiT ATTriBuTABle TO equiTy hOlDerS OF The COmpAny (£’000) 1,257 1,213

Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares in issue 12,547,658 12,265,507
Share options 330,378 444,808

Weighted average number of Ordinary Shares for diluted earnings per share 12,878,036 12,710,315

DiluTeD eArningS per ShAre 9.8p 9.5p
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 22 dIvIdendS
On 20 December 2018, the Company paid an interim dividend of 1.1 pence per share, amounting to £138,000, in respect of 
the year ended 31 March 2019.

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018  
 £’000 £’000

Final dividend for 2017/18: 6.4p per share (prior period: 6.4p per share) 802 798

Interim dividend for 2018/19: 1.1p per share (prior period: 1.1p per share) 138 137
Special dividend: nil per share (prior period: 26.1p per share) - 3,253

 138 3,390

TOTAL ORDInARy DIVIDEnDS PAID In ThE PERIOD 940 4,188

The directors are proposing a final dividend in respect of the year ended 31 March 2019 of 6.4 pence per 
share. These financial statements do not reflect this proposed dividend.

 23 net CaSh GeneRated fRom oPeRatIonS

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018 
 £’000 £’000

PROFIT BEFORE TAxATIOn 1,934 1,992
Depreciation 151 172
Amortisation 135 202
Interest received (2) (7)
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 2 1
Share-based payment (credit)/expense (132) 223
Increase in contract costs (77) (36)
(Increase)/decrease in receivables (1,204) 300
Increase in payables 424 568
Decrease in contract liabilities (46) (57)
Exchange differences on operating items 64 66

nET CASh GEnERATED FROM OPERATIOnS 1,249 3,424

 

 24 ReLated PaRty tRanSaCtIonS
Dividends paid to directors were as follows.

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018 
 £  £

John Kearon 245,067 1,115,590
James Geddes 18,824 64,621
Alex Batchelor (resigned 30 June 2017) nA 43,761
Ken Ford* 1,280 6,720
Robert Brand 2,250 10,080
Graham Blashill 750 1,680

 268,171 1,242,452

*Includes those dividends with an ex-dividend date prior to resignation as director
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 24 ReLated PaRty tRanSaCtIonS continued

The following transactions took place between entities within the Group, all of which are consolidated in these 
financial statements, and are related parties by virtue of the common control of the Company. 

 Revenues/  Overhead Royalties  Amounts due 
 (direct costs) charges  from/(to)  
    related parties
For the year ended 31 March 2019 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

System1 Group PLC - 4,953 2,462 3,327
System1 Research Limited 154 (1,210) (601) (1,050)
System1 Research B.V. - (124) (62) (22)
System1 Research, Inc. (236) (2,008) (997) (339)
System1 Research Sarl 120 (495) (246) 243
System1 Research Gmbh - (505) (251) (752)
System1 Marketing Consulting (Shanghai) Co. Limited 94 - (2) 30
System1 Research Do Brazil Servicos de Marketing Ltda. - - - (108)
System1 Research France Sarl 150 (239) (119) (22)
System1 Market Research Pte Ltd (201) (176) (87) (469)
System1 Research Pty Ltd. (29) (197) (98) 76
BrainJuicer India Private Limited - - - -
System1 Agency Limited (52) - - (915)

 Revenues/  Overhead Royalties  Amounts due 
 (direct costs) charges  from/(to)  
    related parties
For the year ended 31 March 2018 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

System1 Group PLC - 4,870 2,466 2,881
System1 Research Limited - (1,229) (605) (712)
System1 Research B.V. - (182) (90) 31
System1 Research, Inc. 148 (2,099) (978) 95
System1 Research Sarl 2 (314) (152) (269)
System1 Research Gmbh - (486) (238) (253)
System1 Marketing Consulting (Shanghai) Co. Limited (143) - (46) 23
System1 Research Do Brazil Servicos de Marketing Ltda. - - - (109)
System1 Research France Sarl (150) (190) (93) 50
System1 Market Research Pte Ltd 143 (113) (49) (310)
System1 Research Pty Ltd. - (256) (258) (462)
BrainJuicer India Private Limited - - - (42)
System1 Agency Limited - - - (923)

 25 exCePtional Credit – rates reBate
During the year the Company recognised an exceptional credit of £251,000 in respect of a Business Rates refund that was 
made as a result of an error by Camden Council and the Valuation Office.
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 26 ChanGe In aCCountInG PoLICIeS
The adoption of IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’ has resulted in no change in the comparative 
income statement. Changes to the balance sheet are set out below.

 IAS 18 carrying  Reclassification IFRS 15 carrying 
 amount at  amount at 
 31 Mar 2018  1 Apr 2018
Balance sheet (extract) £’000  £’000  £’000 

aSSetS
nOn-CURREnT ASSETS 
Property, plant and equipment 269 - 269
Intangible assets 26 - 26
Deferred tax asset 372 - 372

 667 - 667
CURREnT ASSETS
Contract costs 131 - 131
Trade and other receivables 6,139 (428) 5,711
Income tax recoverable 423 - 423
Cash and cash equivalents 5,784 - 5,784

 12,477 (428) 12,049

totaL aSSetS 13,144 (428) 12,716

equIty
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITy hOLDERS OF ThE COMPAny 
Share capital  132 - 132
Share premium account 1,601 - 1,601
Merger reserve 477 - 477
Foreign currency translation reserve 221 - 221
Retained earnings 4,578 - 4,578

totaL equIty 7,009 - 7,009

LIaBILItIeS
nOn-CURREnT LIABILITIES 
Provisions 420 - 420
Finance lease payable 70 - 70

 490 - 490
CURREnT LIABILITIES
Provisions 368 - 368
Finance lease payable 46 - 46
Trade and other payables 5,231 (1,008) 4,223
Contract liabilities - 580 580

 5,645 (428) 5,217

totaL LIaBILItIeS 6,135 (428) 5,707

totaL equIty and LIaBILItIeS 13,144 (428) 12,716
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 26 ChanGe In aCCountInG PoLICIeS continued

 IAS 18 carrying   Reclassification IFRS 15 carrying 
 amount at  amount at 
 31 Mar 2017  1 Apr 2017
Balance sheet (extract) £’000  £’000  £’000 

aSSetS
nOn-CURREnT ASSETS 
Property, plant and equipment 360 - 360
Intangible assets 207 - 207
Deferred tax asset 984 - 984

 1,551 - 1,551
CURREnT ASSETS
Contract costs 95 - 95
Trade and other receivables 6,439 (250) 6,189
Cash and cash equivalents 8,266 - 8,266

 14,800 (250) 14,550

totaL aSSetS 16,351 (250) 16,101

equIty
ATTRIBUTABLE TO EQUITy hOLDERS OF ThE COMPAny 
Share capital  132 - 132
Share premium account 1,601 - 1,601
Merger reserve 477 - 477
Foreign currency translation reserve 411 - 411
Retained earnings 7,728 - 7,728

totaL equIty 10,349 - 10,349

LIaBILItIeS
nOn-CURREnT LIABILITIES 
Provisions 505 - 505

 505 - 505
CURREnT LIABILITIES
Provisions 288 - 288
Trade and other payables 4,715 (887) 3,828
Contract liabilities - 637 637
Current income tax liabilities 494 - 494

 5,497 (250) 5,247

totaL LIaBILItIeS 6,002 (250) 5,752

totaL equIty and LIaBILItIeS 16,351 (250) 16,101

Contract liabilities in relation to advances received from customers (£580,000 as at 31 March 2018) were 
previously presented as deferred income within trade and other payables. Amounts invoiced to customers where 
the right to consideration was not unconditional at the balance sheet date and those amounts remained unpaid 
(£428,000 as at 31 March 2018), were previously included within trade and other receivables with the matching 
liability recorded within deferred income. On adoption of IFRS 15 such amounts are neither included within trade 
receivables nor contract liabilities. At 31 March 2019 outstanding amounts invoiced to customers where the 
right to consideration was not unconditional at the balance sheet date amounted to £507,000 (31 March 2018: 
£428,000).

 27 audIt exemPtIon
System1 Research Limited (company number 03900547) and System1 Agency Limited (company number 
09829202) are exempt from the requirements of the Companies Act 2006 relating to the audit of accounts under 
section 479A. System1 Group Plc has given a parental guarantee for both entities above under section 479C of 
the Companies Act 2006.
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Company Balance Sheet
as at 31 March 2019

  31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018
 note £’000 £’000

fIxed aSSetS  
Other intangible assets 2 814 26
Tangible assets 3 126 121
Investments 4 581 581

  1,521    728
CuRRent aSSetS   
Debtors due within one year 5 5,292 3,900
Debtors due after one year 5 100 122
Cash at bank  152 1,330

  5,544 5,352
   

Creditors: amoUnts dUe Within one year 6 (2,660) (1,597)

net CuRRent aSSetS  2,884 3,755

totaL aSSetS LeSS CuRRent LIaBILItIeS  4,405 4,483
CRedItoRS: amountS due afteR one yeaR 7 (23) (70)
PRovISIonS foR LIaBILItIeS 8 (287) (307)

net aSSetS  4,095 4,106

CaPItaL and ReSeRveS   
Share capital  10 132 132
Share premium account  1,601 1,601
Retained earnings  2,362 2,373

ShaRehoLdeRS’ fundS  4,095 4,106

These financial statements were approved by the directors on 5 June 2019 and are signed on their behalf by:

JOhn KEAROn JAMES GEDDES
Director Director

REGISTERED COMPAny nO. 05940040
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  Share   
 Share premium  Retained  
 capital account  earnings Total
 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

at 1 aPRIL 2017 132 1,601 6,272 8,005

PROFIT FOR ThE FInAnCIAL PERIOD AnD TOTAL COMPREhEnSIVE  
InCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO ThE EQUITy hOLDERS - - 388 388

Transactions with owners:       
Employee share options scheme:       
- Value of employee services - - 223 223
- Current tax credited to equity - - 274 274
- Deferred tax credited to equity - - (595) (595)
Dividends paid to owners - - (4,188) (4,188)
Sale of treasury shares - - 33 33
Purchase of own shares - - (34) (34)

 - - (4,287) (4,287)

at 31 maR 2018 132 1,601 2,373 4,106
       
PROFIT FOR ThE FInAnCIAL yEAR AnD TOTAL COMPREhEnSIVE  
InCOME ATTRIBUTABLE TO ThE EQUITy hOLDERS - - 1,110 1,110

Transactions with owners:       
Employee share scheme:       
- Value of employee services - - (132) (132)
- Current tax credited to equity - - 18 18
- Deferred tax debited to equity - - (70) (70)
Dividends paid to owners - - (940) (940)
Sale of treasury shares - - 3 3

 - - (1,121) (1,121)

at 31 maR 2019 132 1,601 2,362 4,095
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 1  aCCountInG PoLICIeS

STATEMEnT OF COMPLIAnCE
The separate financial statements of the Company are presented in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 
101 – ‘The Reduced Disclosure Framework’. They have been prepared under the historical cost convention. The 
principal accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These 
policies have been applied consistently throughout the year.

This Company is included in the consolidated financial statements of System1 Group PLC for the 12 months 
ended 31 March 2019. These accounts are available from the registered office address of the Company, and at 
www.system1group.com (investor section).

DISCLOSURE ExEMPTIOnS ADOPTED
In preparing these financial statements the Company has taken advantage of all disclosure exemptions available 
under FRS 101. Therefore, these financial statements do not include:

(a)  a statement of cash flows and related notes;
(b)  the requirement to produce a balance sheet at the beginning of the earliest comparative period;
(c)  the requirements of IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures to disclose related party transactions entered into  

 between two or more wholly owned members of the group;
(d)  disclosure of key management personnel compensation;
(e)  capital management disclosures;
(f)  presentation of a comparative reconciliation of the number of shares outstanding at the beginning and at  

 the end of the period;
(g)  the effect of future accounting standards not adopted;
(h)  disclosures in respect of financial instruments and fair value measurement.

OThER InTAnGIBLE ASSETS

SOFTWARE 
Acquired computer software licenses are capitalised at the cost of acquisition.

Costs incurred in the development of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group, and 
that will probably generate economic benefits exceeding costs beyond one year, are recognised as intangible 
assets.

Costs include professional fees and directly-attributable employee costs required to bring the software into 
working condition. non-attributable costs are expensed under the relevant income statement heading.

RESEARCh AnD DEVELOPMEnT – InTERnALLy GEnERATED InTAnGIBLE ASSETS.
All on-going research expenditure is expensed in the year in which it is incurred. Development costs incurred in 
the development of the Company’s new AdRatings product are capitalised as an internally generated asset when 
all criteria for capitalisation are met. The AdRatings product comprises the product platform and the data avail-
able to product subscribers.

Costs relating to the research phase of the product, amounting to £2.11m in the year to 31 March 2019 (31 
March 2018: £nil) have been expensed during the period. Development costs include professional fees and 
directly-attributable employee costs required to bring the software into working condition. Where no internally-
generated intangible asset can be recognised, development expenditure is charged to administrative expenses in 
the period in which it is incurred.

Furthermore, internally-generated software and product development costs are recognised as an intangible 
asset only if the Group can demonstrate all of the following conditions:

(a)  the technical feasibility of completing the intangible asset so that it will be available for use or sale; 
(b)  its intention to complete the intangible asset and use or sell it;
(c)  its ability to use or sell the intangible asset;
(d)  how the intangible asset will generate probable future economic benefits; 
(e)  among other things, the Group can demonstrate the existence of a market for the output of the intangible  

 asset or the intangible asset itself or, if it is to be used internally, the usefulness of the intangible asset;
(f)  the availability of adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to  

 use or sell the intangible asset; 
(g)  its ability to measure reliably the expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development.
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 1  aCCountInG PoLICIeS continued

AMORTISATIOn 
Acquired computer software licenses are amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful economic 
life of two years.

Internally-generated intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over their useful economic lives.
 The Group’s main research software platform, which it developed over a number of years, was introduced in 

2011, at a cost of £1,604,000. It was amortised over 7 years and is now fully amortised.
The AdRatings platform and the cost of data being made available to subscribers are being amortised over a 

period of 3 years on a straight-line basis. 
Amortisation on all intangible assets is charged to administrative expenses.

TAnGIBLE ASSETS
Property, plant and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses. Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of all property, plant and equipment to its 
residual value on a straight-line basis over its expected useful economic lives, which are as follows:
Furniture, fittings and equipment  5 years
Computer hardware  2 to 3 years

The residual value and useful life of each asset is reviewed and adjusted, if appropriate, at each balance sheet 
date.

IMPAIRMEnT OF PROPERTy, PLAnT AnD EQUIPMEnT AnD InTAnGIBLE ASSETS
At each balance sheet date the Company reviews the carrying amount of its property, plant and equipment and 
intangible assets for any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication 
exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, 
if any. Intangible assets not available for use are tested for impairment on at least an annual basis. The recover-
able amount is the higher of the fair value less costs to sell and value in use.

CASh AT BAnK
Cash at bank comprises cash in hand and bank deposits available on demand.

InCOME TAxES
Current income tax liabilities comprise those obligations to fiscal authorities relating to the current or prior 
reporting period, that are unpaid at the balance sheet date. They are calculated according to the tax rates and 
tax laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date applicable to the fiscal periods 
to which they relate, based on the taxable profit for the year. All changes to current tax assets or liabilities are 
recognised as a component of tax expense in the income statement, except where it relates to items charged or 
credited to other comprehensive income or directly to equity.

Deferred income taxes are calculated using the liability method on temporary differences. This involves the 
comparison of the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial statements with their 
respective tax bases. In addition, tax losses available to be carried forward as well as other income tax credits to 
the Company are assessed for recognition as deferred tax assets.

Deferred tax liabilities are always provided for in full. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it 
is probable that the underlying deductible temporary differences will be able to be offset against future taxable 
income. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are calculated, without discounting, at tax rates that are expected to 
apply to their respective period of realisation, provided they are enacted or substantively enacted at the balance 
sheet date. Deferred tax is recognised as a component of tax expense in the income statement, except where it 
relates to items charged or credited to other comprehensive income or directly to equity.

EMPLOyEE BEnEFITS
All accumulating employee-compensated absences that are unused at the balance sheet date are recognised as a 
liability.

The Company operates a defined contribution pension plan. The Company pays contributions to the plan 
based upon the contractual terms agreed with each employee. The Company has no further payment obligations 
once the contributions have been paid. The contributions are recognised as employee benefit expense when they 
are due.

notes to the Company Financial Statements
for the year ended 31 March 2019
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 1  aCCountInG PoLICIeS continued

ShARE-BASED PAyMEnTS
Equity-settled, share-based payments are measured at fair value at the date of grant. Equity-settled, share-based 
payments that are made available to employees of the Company’s subsidiaries are treated as increases in equity 
over the vesting period of the award, with a corresponding increase in the Company’s investments in subsidiaries, 
based on an estimate of the number of shares that will eventually vest. 

PROVISIOnS
Provisions for sabbatical leave are recognised when: the Company has a legal or constructive obligation as a 
result of past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the 
amount has been reliably estimated. Where material, the increase in provisions due to passage of time is recog-
nised as interest expense. The provision for sabbatical leave is measured using the projected unit credit method. 
The provision for dilapidations is measured at the present value of expenditures expected to be required to settle 
those obligations.

FInAnCIAL InSTRUMEnTS

FInAnCIAL ASSETS
The Company’s financial assets comprise trade and other receivables held at amortised cost. The Company does 
not possess assets held at fair value through profit or loss, held-to-maturity investments or available-for-sale 
financial assets. The classification is determined by management at initial recognition, being dependent upon 
the purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to 
receive cash flows from the investments have expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred 
substantially all risks and rewards of ownership. Financial assets arising from contracts with customers are sepa-
rately presented in accordance with IFRS 15 in the Balance Sheet.

TRADE AnD OThER RECEIVABLES. 
Trade and other receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. Amounts previously designated as loans and receivables under IAS 39 have been 
reclassified to amortised cost under IFRS 9. The Company’s amortised cost financial assets comprise trade and 
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents in the balance sheet.

Trade receivables are initially recorded at fair value, but subsequently at amortised cost using the effective 
interest rate method. In accordance with IFRS 9, the Company assesses on a forward-looking basis, the expected 
credit losses associated with its financial assets carried at amortised cost. This assessment takes into account the 
age of the debt, as well as historical experience. The amount of the write-down is determined as the difference 
between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows.

FInAnCIAL LIABILITIES 
Financial liabilities are initially recognised at fair value, net of transaction costs, and subsequently carried at 
amortised cost using the effective interest rate method. Financial liabilities and equity instruments are classified 
according to the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into. An equity instrument is any contract 
that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the entity after deducting all of its financial liabilities.

Where the contractual obligations of financial instruments (including share capital) are equivalent to a similar 
debt instrument, those financial instruments are classed as financial liabilities. Financial liabilities are presented 
as such in the balance sheet. Finance costs and gains or losses relating to financial liabilities are included in the 
income statement. Finance costs are calculated so as to produce a constant rate of return on the outstanding 
liability. Where the contractual terms of share capital do not have any terms meeting the definition of a financial 
liability then this is classed as an equity instrument. Dividends and distributions relating to equity instruments are 
debited directly to equity.

ShARE CAPITAL
Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds 
received, net of direct issue costs.



System1 Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2019 72

notes to the Company Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2019

 1  aCCountInG PoLICIeS continued

ShARE PREMIUM 
Share premium represents the excess over nominal value of the fair value of consideration received for equity 
shares, net of expenses of the share issue.

TREASURy ShARES
Where the Company purchases the Company’s equity share capital, the consideration paid is deducted from the 
total shareholders’ equity and classified as treasury shares until they are cancelled. Where such shares are sub-
sequently sold or re-issued, any consideration received is included in total shareholders’ equity. no gain or loss is 
recognised on the purchase, sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity instruments.

SIGnIFICAnT ACCOUnTInG ESTIMATES AnD JUDGEMEnTS

ShARE-BASED PAyMEnTS 
The fair value of options granted is determined using a Black Scholes based Employee Stock Option Valuation 
model (for the employee share option scheme) and a Monte Carlo simulation model (for the long-term incentive 
scheme). These models require a number of estimates and assumptions. The significant inputs into the models 
are share price at grant date, exercise price, historic exercise multiples, expected volatility and the risk-free rate. 
Volatility is measured at the standard deviation of expected share price returns based on statistical analysis of 
historical share prices.

In previous years the Company has often purchased shares arising from the exercise of share options in order 
to minimise shareholder dilution and create shareholder value. IFRS 2 does not provide guidance on the applica-
tion of ‘substance over form’ when evaluating whether a share based payment should be accounted for as equity 
or cash-settled. In order to determine whether the Company’s share options are equity or cash-settled, con-
sideration needs to be given to whether the settlement of the share options through the issue and subsequent 
repurchase of treasury shares should be treated as one transaction or as two distinct transactions, and whether 
the Company has a present obligation to settle in cash. The Company does not publicise to option holders that 
treasury shares may be repurchased and the decision to do so is only made at the point of option exercise. 
Consequently, for subsequent settlements treasury shares issued may not be purchased. For this reason, treating 
the transaction as a whole would not reflect the transaction’s substance. There is no present obligation to settle 
in cash given that the Company does not have a policy of repurchasing treasury shares and has not advertised 
to employees that this option will be open to them until the point of exercise. As a result, the Company’s share 
options continue to be accounted for as equity rather than cash-settled.

In prior periods the Company has on occasion cash-settled part of long-term incentive plan equity awards. 
Despite the repurchase of these equity interests the Company did not have an obligation to do so and does 
not have an obligation, constructive or otherwise to do so in the future. As a result, the Company continues to 
account for share-based payments related to its long-term incentive plans as equity rather than cash-settled.

EMPLOyEE BEnEFITS
The Company has a sabbatical leave scheme, open to all employees, which provides 20 days paid leave for each 
six years’ of service. The carrying amount of the provision at the balance sheet date amounted to £280,000 (31 
March 2018: £288,000). The provision for liabilities under the scheme is measured using the projected unit credit 
method. This model requires a number of estimates and assumptions. The significant inputs into the model are 
rate of salary growth and average staff turnover as explained in note 8.

CAPITALISATIOn OF ADRATInGS PLATFORM 
The Group has capitalised £923,000 in respect of costs incurred in the development of the AdRatings Platform. 
The point at which development costs meet the criteria for capitalisation is dependent upon management’s 
judgement as to the point at which the Group can demonstrate the existence of a market for the output of the 
intangible asset and the carrying value of development assets is dependent on management’s ability to demon-
strate the future economic benefits they will deliver. 

The Group tests capitalised development costs for impairment on an annual basis by reference to expected 
future cash generation from the AdRatings product. In estimating future cash generation, management make 
judgements by reference to budgets and forecasts about the amount and timing of future profits. Details are 
contained in note 2. 
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 2 other intanGibLe aSSetS

	 Development	 Software	 Software	 Total 
	 costs	(AdRatings)	 licenses	
For the year ended 31 March 2019 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000

at 1 aPriL 2018     
Cost  - 488 1,672 2,160
Accumulated	amortisation	 -	 (462)	 (1,672)	 (2,134)

NeT	book	AmouNT - 26 - 26

year ended 31 MarCh 2019   
opeNiNg	NeT	book	AmouNT - 26 - 26
Additions	 923	 -	 -	 923
Amortisation	charge	 (110)	 (25)	 -	 (135)

CLoSinG net book aMount 813 1 - 814

at 31 MarCh 2019   
Cost  923 499 1,672 3,094
Accumulated	amortisation	 (110)	 (498)	 (1,672)	 (2,280)

net book aMount 813 1 - 814

	 Software	licenses	 Software	 Total
For the year ended 31 March 2018 £’000 £’000 £’000

at 1 aPriL 2017    
Cost  466 1,672 2,138
Accumulated	amortisation	 (432)	 (1,499)	 (1,931)

NeT	book	AmouNT 34 173 207

year ended 31 MarCh 2018   
opeNiNg	NeT	book	AmouNT 34 173 207
Additions	 22	 -	 22
Amortisation	charge	 (30)	 (173)	 (203)

CLoSinG net book aMount 26 - 26

at 31 MarCh 2018   
Cost  488 1,672 2,160
Accumulated	amortisation	 (462)	 (1,672)	 (2,134)

net book aMount 26 - 26

Software	comprises	the	group’s	main	research	software	platform,	which	it	developed	over	a	number	of	years	
and	introduced	in	2011,	at	a	cost	of	£1,604,000.	it	was	amortised	over	7	years	and	is	now	fully	amortised.	The	
carrying	amount	of	this	asset	at	the	balance	sheet	date	was	£Nil	(31	mar	2018:	£Nil).

Development	costs	comprise	amounts	capitalised	for	the	group’s	AdRatings	product.	This	comprises	the	plat-
form	and	the	data	available	to	subscribers,	which	are	amortised	over	three	years.	

The	carrying	value	of	the	AdRating	product	has	been	tested	for	impairment	at	the	year	end.	The	carrying	
value	of	the	asset	has	been	allocated	to	the	AdRatings	cash	generating	unit	(‘Cgu’)	for	the	purposes	of	assessing	
future	cashflows.	The	principal	assumptions	used	in	the	forecast	are	the	timing	and	amount	of	future	revenues	
and	profit	margins.	No	terminal	growth	rate	applies	as	the	period	of	assessment	has	been	limited	to	the	three-
year	useful	economic	life	assigned	to	the	asset.	For	similar	reasons	the	impairment	analysis	is	not	sensitive	to	the	
discount	rate,	which	is	derived	from	the	pre-tax	WACC	of	the	group.	

Revenue	and	margin	assumptions	have	been	based	on	the	latest	forecasts	approved	by	the	board.	
management	have	considered	the	sensitivity	of	the	impairment	assessment	to	key	assumptions,	being	the	

timing	and	quantum	of	revenues,	and	have	determined	that	no	impairment	charge	would	arise	if	the	com-
mencement	of	revenue	generation	were	to	be	delayed	by	three	months	or	if	target	subscription	numbers	were	
to	be	reduced	by	50%.	These	sensitivities	do	not	take	account	of	any	associated	reduction	in	forecast	spend.	
management	are	not	currently	aware	of	any	circumstances	which	would	lead	to	actual	results	deviating	from	
assumptions	by	more	than	the	parameters	set	out	above.
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 3 tanGIBLe aSSetS

 Furniture,  
 fittings and  Computer  
 equipment hardware Total
For the year ended 31 March 2019 £’000 £’000 £’000

at 1 aPRIL 2018   
Cost  164 500 664
Accumulated depreciation (79) (464) (543)

nET BOOK AMOUnT 85 36 121

yeaR ended 31 maRCh 2019   
OPEnInG nET BOOK AMOUnT 85 36 121
Additions 1 80 81
Depreciation charge for the year (31) (45) (76)

CLoSInG net Book amount 55 71 126

at 31 maRCh 2019   
Cost  165 580 745
Accumulated depreciation (110) (509) (619)

net Book amount 55 71 126

 Furniture,  
 fittings and  Computer  
 equipment hardware Total
For the year ended 31 March 2018 £’000 £’000 £’000

at 1 aPRIL 2017   
Cost  147 466 613
Accumulated depreciation (49) (404) (453)

nET BOOK AMOUnT 98 62 160

yeaR ended 31 maRCh 2018   
OPEnInG nET BOOK AMOUnT 98 62 160
Additions 17 35 52
Disposals - (1) (1)
Depreciation charge for the year (30) (60) (90)

CLoSInG net Book amount 85 36 121

at 31 maRCh 2018   
Cost  164 500 664
Accumulated depreciation (79) (464) (543)

net Book amount 85 36 121
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 4 InveStmentS

   Group companies
   £’000 

GRouP ComPanIeS   
Cost and net book amount at 1 Apr 2018 and 31 Mar 2019   581

SUBSIDIARy UnDERTAKInGS
Details of subsidiary undertakings and country of incorporation of each, at 31 March 2019 are as follows:

   Country of
   incorporation

System1 Research Limited   UK
System1 Research B.V.   netherlands
System1 Research, Inc.   USA
System1 Research Sarl   Switzerland
System1 Research Gmbh   Germany
System1 Marketing Consulting (Shanghai) Co. Limited   China
System1 Research Do Brazil Servicos de Marketing Ltda.   Brazil
System1 Research France Sarl   France
System1 Market Research Pte Ltd   Singapore
System1 Research Pty Ltd.   Australia
BrainJuicer India Private Limited   India
System1 Agency Limited   UK
System1 AdRatings Limited   UK

System1 Research Limited, System1 Agency Limited and System1 AdRatings Limited are wholly owned direct 
subsidiaries of System1 Group PLC. The remaining subsidiaries are each wholly owned direct subsidiaries of 
System1 Research Limited. System1 AdRatings Limited was incorporated on 17 April 2018 with issued ordinary 
share capital of £1. The activities of all companies are the provision of online market research services, apart 
from System1 Agency Limited which provides advertising agency services and System1 AdRatings Limited, which 
provides subscription access to marketing effectiveness data.

 5 deBtoRS

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018
 £’000 £’000 

dUe Within one year
Trade debtors (intra-group) 696 295
Amounts due from group companies 3,452 2,782
Other debtors 10 13
VAT recoverable 190 169
Corporation tax recoverable 189 117
Deferred tax (note 9) 79 170
Prepayments 676 354

 5,292 3,900

due afteR one yeaR
Deferred tax (note 9) 100 122
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 6 Creditors: amoUnts dUe Within one year

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018
 £’000 £’000

Trade creditors 1,192 533
Social security and other taxes 133 103
Amounts due to group undertakings 822 163
Finance lease creditor 46 46
Accruals 467 752

 2,660 1,597

 7 CRedItoRS: amountS afteR one yeaR

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018

 £’000 £’000

Finance lease creditor 23 70

 8 PRovISIonS foR LIaBILItIeS

 Deferred tax Sabbatical  
 (note 9) provision Total
 £’000  £’000  £’000 

AT 1 APRIL 2017 32 276 308
Provided in the year - 39 39
Utilised in the year (13) (27) (40)

AT 31 MARCh 2018 19 288 307

Provided in the year - 64 64
Utilised in the year (12) (72) (84)

AT 31 MARCh 2019 7 280 287

The Group has a sabbatical leave scheme, open to all employees. The scheme provides 20 days paid leave for 
each successive period of six years’ service. There is no proportional entitlement for shorter periods of service. 
The provision for the liabilities under the scheme is measured using the projected unit credit method. The calcu-
lation of the provision for the year to 31 March 2019 assumes an annual rate of growth in salaries of 7% (year to 
31 March 2018: 7%), a discount rate of 2.2% (31 March 2018: 2.2%), based upon good quality 6-year corporate 
bond yields, and an average staff turnover rate of 19% (31 March 2018: 19%).  

 9 defeRRed tax
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows.

 31 Mar 2019 31 Mar 2018
 £’000  £’000 

Deferred tax assets:  
- Deferred tax assets to be recovered after more than 12 months 100 122
- Deferred tax assets to be recovered within 12 months 79 170

 179 292

Deferred tax liabilities:  
- Deferred tax liability to be recovered within 12 months (7) (19)

DEFERRED TAx ASSET (nET): 172 273

76

notes to the Company Financial Statements continued
for the year ended 31 March 2019



System1 Group PLC Annual Report and Accounts 2019 77

 9 defeRRed tax continued

The gross movement in deferred tax is as follows.

 year to 31 Mar   year to 31 Mar  
 2018 2017 
 £’000  £’000 

OPEnInG BALAnCE 273 828
Income statement credit (31) 40
Tax (debited)/credited directly to equity (70) (595)

CLOSInG BALAnCE 172 273

The movement in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the 12 month period, without taking into 
consideration the offsetting of balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

defeRRed tax aSSetS

   Other  Share Sabbatical  
   provisions  options provision Total
   £’000 £’000  £’000  £’000

AT 1 APRIL 2018   11 226 55 292
Credited to income statement   (9) (32) (2) (43)
Debited directly to equity   - (70) - (70)

AT 31 MARCh 2019   2 124 53 179

 defeRRed tax LIaBILItIeS

  Accelerated  
  capital  
  allowances
  £’000 

AT 1 APRIL 2018  (19)
Credited to income statement  12

AT 31 MARCh 2019  (7)

 10 ShaRe CaPItaL

aLLotted, CaLLed uP and fuLLy PaId oRdInaRy ShaReS

 number £’000 

AT 1 APRIL 2018 AnD AT 31 MARCh 2019 13,226,773 132

 
 11 PRofIt foR the yeaR
The Company has made use of the exemptions as permitted by Section 408 of the Companies Act 2006 and 
accordingly the income statement of the Company is not presented as part of the accounts. The parent company 
profit for the year to 31 March 2019 of £1,110,000 (31 March 2018: £388,000) is included in the Group profit for 
the financial year. Details of executive and non-executive directors’ emoluments and their interest in shares and 
options of the company are shown within the directors’ Remuneration Report.
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